
DRAFT
 AGENDA 

Materia
ls co

ntained in
 th

is a
genda are

proposed to
pics

 fo
r d

isc
ussi

on 

and are not to
be co

nstr
ued as r

egulatio
n or o

ffic
ial B

oard posit
ion. 

DRAFT
 AGENDA 

VIRGINIA BOARD FOR ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

Tentative AGENDA 

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 30, 2023, 9:00 A.M. 

BOARD ROOM 2—SECOND FLOOR 

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL REGULATION 

PERIMETER CENTER—9960 MAYLAND DRIVE 

RICHMOND, VA  23233 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURES

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

a. Board Agenda, August 24, 2023

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

a. Board Meeting Minutes, August 24, 2023

b. Lead-Based Paint Activities Regulatory Review Committee Minutes, October 25, 2023

V. INTRODUCTION OF NEW BOARD MEMBERS

VI. DPOR STAFF UPDATES

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD – Five minute public comment, per person, on those items

not included on the agenda with the exception of any open disciplinary or application files

VIII. CASE FILES *

a. File Number 2023-02604, Justin Gene Davis (HI)

Consent Order (Salva)
b. File Number 2023-02603, Brandon L. Thomas (HI)

Prima Facia (Salva)

c. File Number 2022-02331, William Bruce Blackwell (HI)

Disciplinary--IFF by Cranor (Salva)

d. File Number 2023-02605, Farbod Azari (HI)

Disciplinary--IFF by Cranor (Salva)

e. File Number 2023-02940, Welder Dariel Solis (ASB)

Licensing--IFF by Jackson-Bailey

IX. REGULATIONS

a. Regulatory Action Update

b. Consider Public Comments Received on SB607

i. Consider Board Response to Public Comments Received

c. Consider Adoption of Final SB607 Amendments to HI Licensing Regulations

d. Periodic Review of Board Regulations

e. Discussion of Home Inspector Proposed Regulations: Clarification of Acceptable CPE Topics

X. OTHER BUSINESS

a. Discussion of Insurance Requirements for Home Inspectors Licensed Under ULR

b. HI CPE Audit Report

c. Consider Resolution for Service

d. Board Financial Statements

e. Outreach Update
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f. Other Board Business

XI. FUTURE MEETING DATES

a. February 8, 2024

b. May 9, 2024

c. August 15, 2024

d. November 21, 2024

XII. COMPLETE CONFLICT OF INTEREST FORMS AND TRAVEL VOUCHERS

XIII. ADJOURN

Persons desiring to participate in the meeting and requiring special accommodations or interpretative services 

should contact the Department at (804) 367-0362 at least ten days prior to the meeting so that suitable 

arrangements can be made for an appropriate accommodation. The Department fully complies with the 

Americans with Disabilities Act.

* Agenda materials made available to the public do not include disciplinary case files or application files

pursuant to §54.1-108 of the Code of Virginia.
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PERIMETER CENTER CONFERENCE CENTER 
EMERGENCY EVACUATION OF BOARD AND TRAINING ROOMS 

(Script to be read at the beginning of each meeting.) 
 

PLEASE LISTEN TO THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS ABOUT EXITING THE PREMISES IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY. 
 
In the event of a fire or other emergency requiring the evacuation of the building, alarms will sound.   
When the alarms sound, leave the room immediately.  Follow any instructions given by Security staff 
 
Board Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Board Room 2 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room. (Point)  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
You may also exit the room using the side door, turn Right out the door and make an immediate Left.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Board Rooms 3 and 4 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.    Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Training Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
 
Training Room 2  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the doors, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   
 
Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
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VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 

ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
The Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors met on August 24, 2023, at the 
offices of the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter 
Center, 9960 Mayland Drive, 2nd Floor, Board Room 4, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 
 
 
The following members of the Board were present: 
 

Stacy J. Armentrout 
Sandra Baynes, Chair 

Douglas Burgess 
John E. Cranor, Vice-Chair 

James E. Haltigan 
 

Kevin Salva 
Patrick Studley 
Sharad Tandale  
Paul D. Thomas 

 

Board members Chadwick Bowman, Gene Magruder, and Louis Walker were 
not present at the meeting. 
 
The following staff members were present for all or part of the meeting: 

 
Demetrios J. Melis, Director 

Kishore Thota, Chief Deputy Director 
Tanya Pettus, Board Administrator 

Lee Bryant, Regulatory and Board Administrator 
Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Regulatory Affairs Manager 

Amy Goobic, Executive Assistant 
 
 Joshua Laws from the Office of the Attorney General was present. 
 
Ms. Baynes, finding a quorum of the Board present, called the 
meeting to order at 9:02 a.m. 

Call to Order 

  
Ms. Pettus advised the Board of the emergency evacuation 
procedures. 

Emergency 
Evacuation 
Procedures 

  
Mr. Haltigan moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. 
Studley seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, 
and Thomas. 

Approval of Agenda 

  
Mr. Studley moved to approve the minutes of the May 11, 2023, 
Board meeting. Mr. Haltigan seconded the motion which was 
unanimously approved by:     Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, 
Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and Thomas. 

Approval of 
Minutes 
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Mr. Armentrout moved to approve the minutes of the May 31, 2023, 
Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee meeting. Mr. Thomas 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:      
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and 
Thomas. 
 
Mr. Armentrout moved to approve the minutes of the July 13, 2023, 
Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee meeting. Mr. Studley 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:     
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and 
Thomas. 
 
Mr. Armentrout moved to approve the minutes of the August 9, 
2023, Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee meeting. Mr. Salva 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:     
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and 
Thomas. 
 
Mr. Kirschner provided an update on DPOR staff, and introduced 
Lee Bryant, Regulatory Administrator. 

Staff Update 

  
Mr. Cranor recused himself from the meeting for discussion and 
deliberation of File Number 2023-00012. 

Recusal of Board 
Member 

  
In the matter of File Number 2023-00012, Lixin Wang, the Board 
members reviewed the Consent Order. Mr. Wang admits to a 
violation of 18 VAC 15-40-155.6 as provided in Count 1. Mr. Wang 
consents to the imposition of a monetary penalty of $750.00 for the 
violation of Count 1, and Board costs in the amount of $150.00, for 
a total monetary penalty of $900.00. Ms. Baynes moved to approve 
the Consent Order as presented. Mr. Salva seconded the motion 
which was unanimously approved by:  Armentrout, Baynes, 
Burgess, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and Thomas. 

File Number 2023-
00012, Lixin Wang 

  
Mr. Cranor returned to the meeting. Return of Board 

Member 
  
In the matter of File Number 2023-02240, Tywone Lovell Wilkins, 
the Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 
application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-
Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 
Recommendation.  Mr. Salva moved to accept the recommendation 
of the Presiding Officer and approve Mr. Wilkins’ application for an 
asbestos supervisor license. Mr. Haltigan seconded the motion which 

File Number 2023-
02240, Tywone 
Lovell Wilkins 
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was unanimously approved by: Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, 
Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and Thomas. 
  
In the matter of File Number 2023-02401, Lilians C. Maradiaga, 
the Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 
application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-
Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 
Recommendation. Mr. Haltigan moved to accept the 
recommendation of the Presiding Officer to not approve Ms. 
Maradiaga’s application for an asbestos worker license. Mr. Studley 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: 
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, and 
Thomas. 

File Number 2023-
02401, Lilians C. 
Maradiaga 

  
Mr. Tandale arrived to the meeting at 9:14 am. Arrival of Board 

Member 
  
In the matter of File Number 2023-02452, Brandon J. Black, the 
Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the 
application file, transcript and exhibits from the Informal Fact-
Finding Conference, and the Presiding Officer’s Summary and 
Recommendation.  
 
Mr. Black was present to address the Board and stated that his past 
criminal history consisted of a white-collar crime and that he was not 
a danger to the public.  Mr. Black reiterated that he complied with 
all terms of his conviction, and that in the years since he has held 
multiple professional licenses. He stated his respect for hard work 
and the home inspector profession. 
 
Mr. Cranor moved to accept the recommendation of the Presiding 
Officer to approve Mr. Black’s application for a home inspector 
license. Mr. Haltigan seconded the motion which was unanimously 
approved by: Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, 
Studley, Tandale, and Thomas. 

File Number 2023-
02452, Brandon J. 
Black 

  
Ms. Pettus provided an update on the status of the Board’s regulatory 
actions. 
 
The Board adopted revisions to proposed regulatory text of the Home 
Inspector Licensing Regulations at its meeting on May 12, 2022, and 
proposed amendments have been submitted for Executive Branch.  
Ms. Pettus advised there would be discussion of the proposed 
amendments later in the meeting. 
 

Regulatory Action 
Update 
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A 60-day public comment period on proposed amendments to the 
Home Inspector Licensing Regulations as required by SB 607 began 
on July 3, 2023, and included a public hearing held on August 9, 
2023.  The public comment period ends on September 1, 2023.  The 
Board will consider public comments received and adoption of the 
amendments at tis November 30, 2023, meeting. 
 
Ms. Pettus advised that proposed draft amendments to the Virginia 
Asbestos Licensing Regulations would be presented to the Board for 
consideration later in the meeting.  Following the Board’s adoption 
of the proposed amendments, the proposed amendments will be 
submitted for Executive Branch review.  
 
The public comment period on the fast-track action to amend the 
Virginia Lead-based Paint Activities Regulations to update 18 VAC 
15-30-510 and documents incorporated by reference concluded on 
August 2, 2023.  There were no public comments received.  
Amendments will become effective September 1, 2023. 
 
Final Lead-Based Paint Renovation, Repair, and Painting Program 
(RRP) Regulations (Initial Promulgation) were submitted for 
Executive Branch review on January 18, 2022.   
 
 

  
Ms. Pettus asked the Board to consider authorizing a Notice of 
Intended Regulatory Action (NOIRA) for general review of the 
Lead Based Paint Activities Regulations, to and form a regulatory 
review committee. Mr. Studley moved to authorize staff to file the 
NOIRA, and to form a regulatory review committee.  Mr. Salva 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: 
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, 
Tandale, and Thomas. 
 
Ms. Pettus asked that Board members representing lead professions 
serve on the committee.  Board members Haltigan, Studley, and 
Thomas. Mr. Armentrout volunteered to serve on the committee as 
well.  Ms. Pettus stated that she will reach out to other stakeholders 
for participation as well, and that proposed dates for the first 
meeting would be forthcoming.  

Consider NOIRA 
and Committee 
Membership for 
Lead Based Paint 
Activities 

  
Mr. Kirschner advised the Board that as proposed amendments to 
the Home Inspector Licensing regulations are under Executive 
Branch review, it was requested that the Board reconsider proposed 
amendments to 18VAC15-40-147, regarding licensee 
responsibility.  After review and discussion, Mr. Cranor moved to 

Discussion of 
Proposed 
Regulations for 
Home Inspector 
Licensing General 



DRAFT
 AGENDA 

Materia
ls c

ontained in
 th

is a
genda are proposed to

pics
 fo

r d
isc

ussi
on 

and are not t
o be co

nstr
ued as r

egulatio
n or o

ffic
ial B

oard posit
ion. 

DRAFT
 AGENDA 

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 
August 24, 2023 
Page 5 
 
strike section 18VAC15-40-147 from the proposed amendments. 
Mr. Thomas seconded the motion which was unanimously 
approved by: Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, 
Salva, Studley, Tandale, and Thomas. 
 

Review  

  
Mr. Haughwout and Mr. Bryant presented for approval to the Board 
proposed asbestos licensing regulations as recommended by the 
Asbestos Regulatory Review Committee.  Mr. Haughwout explained 
that because recommended changes to the formatting and structure 
of the regulations is substantial, that the current Chapter 20 would be 
repealed, and replaced with a new chapter, Chapter 21.  
 
Discussion was held on entry requirements for asbestos supervisor 
licenses.  After lengthy discussion, Mr. Thomas moved to require a 
high school diploma or equivalent, and three months of work 
experience for asbestos supervisor applicants. Mr. Armentrout 
seconded the motion which was approved by: Armentrout, Baynes, 
Burgess, Cranor, Salva, Studley, Tandale, and Thomas.  Mr. 
Haltigan opposed.  The motion passed by majority vote. 

Consider Committee 
Recommendations 
for Amendment of 
Asbestos Licensing 
Regulations 

  
The Board recessed from 11:25 a.m. to 11:35 a.m. Recess 
  
The Board continued review of proposed changes to the Asbestos 
Licensing Regulations   Discussion was held on the current process 
for obtaining an asbestos contractor license. Discussion was also 
held on current guidance documents to be incorporated into the new 
regulatory chapter.  
 
After review and discussion, Mr. Studley moved to adopt the 
proposed repeal and replace of the Asbestos Licensing Regulations 
as amended, and authorized staff to incorporate the amendments 
discussed, and make technical corrections and changes as necessary.  
Mr. Tandale seconded the motion which was unanimously approved 
by: Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, 
Tandale, and Thomas. 

Asbestos Licensing 
Regulations 
Continued 

  
Ms. Pettus advised that Universal License Recognition (ULR) took 
effect July 1, 2023, and that staff has received three ULR 
applications to date. 

2023 Legislative 
Update 

  
Ms. Pettus asked the Board to consider adopting a policy for 
requests for continuance of decisions for disciplinary and licensing 
cases. The Department suggests adopting such a policy in order to 

Board Policy on 
Continuance of Case 
File Decisions 
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create consistency among all Boards within the agency when 
considering requests for continuance. Ms. Pettus advised that 
pursuant to the Administrative Process Act (APA), a case decision 
must be made within 90 days of an Informal Fact-Finding 
conference (IFF); however, the Code of Virginia also provides a 
means for respondents or their attorneys to request case decisions to 
be rendered later than the 90-day timeframe from the date of the 
IFF. After review and discussion, Mr. Thomas moved to adopt the 
following policy as written:  
 

1. All requests for a continuance of a case must be in writing. 
 

2. Requests for a continuance of a licensing case may be granted 
administratively by the Board’s Executive Director or designee. 

 
3. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the 

recommended sanction does not include license revocation may 
be granted administratively by the Board’s Executive Director or 
designee. The Executive Director may only grant one 
continuance to the next meeting for any case. Any further 
requests for a continuance may only be granted by vote of the 
Board at the next meeting in which the case is to be considered. 

 
4. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the 

recommended sanction includes license revocation may only be 
granted by vote of the Board at the meeting in which the case is 
scheduled to be considered. 

 
Mr. Studley seconded the motion which was unanimously approved 
by:   Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, 
Studley, Tandale, and Thomas. 
 

  
The following meeting 2024 meeting dates were presented to the 
Board for consideration:  

• February 8, 2024 

• May 9, 2024 

• August 15, 2024 

• November 21, 2024 

Mr. Thomas moved to approve the meeting dates as presented.  Mr. 
Salva seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: 

Consider 2024 
Meeting Dates 
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Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, 
Tandale, and Thomas. 
  
Board members considered the following resolution for former 
Executive Director Trisha Lindsey, who recently left the 
Department: 

Trisha L. Lindsey 
 

WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey did faithfully and diligently serve the 
Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors, and the 
Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation;  
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did devote generously of her time, 
talent and leadership to the Board;  
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did endeavor at all times to render 
decisions with fairness and good judgement in the best interest of the 
citizens of the Commonwealth and these professions; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 
Inspectors wishes to acknowledge its gratitude for devoted service of a 
person who is held in high esteem by the members of the Board and 
the citizens of the Commonwealth;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Virginia Board for 
Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors this twenty-fourth day of 
August 2023, that Trisha L. Lindsey be given all honors and respect 
due her for her outstanding service to this Board and the 
Commonwealth and its citizens; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution be presented to 
her and be made a part of the official minutes of the Board so that all 
may know of the high regard in which she is held by this Board.  
 
Ms. Baynes moved to adopt the resolution as written. Mr. Haltigan 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: 
Armentrout, Baynes, Burgess, Cranor, Haltigan, Salva, Studley, 
Tandale, and Thomas.  

Resolution for 
Service 

  
Board members were provided financial statements for 
informational purposes. 

Board Financial 
Statements 

  
Ms. Pettus updated the Board on recent and upcoming outreach 
opportunities. 

Outreach Update 

  
Ms. Pettus informed the Board that the request to explore the Other Business 
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__________________________________________ 
Sandra Baynes, Chair 

__________________________________________ 
Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary 

translation of  the lead law exam to Spanish, as approved by the 
Board at its May meeting, has been forwarded to the new 
Examinations Director, Greg Emerson. In addition, at the request of 
Mr. Emerson, staff identified applications that would benefit the 
applicant pool by being translated to Spanish. Ms. Pettus advised that 
exam staff will work to translate the lead worker, lead supervisor, 
asbestos worker, and asbestos supervisor applications to Spanish. 

Discussion was held on asbestos worker applicants who apply for 
and hold asbestos worker licenses in several states.  

Ms. Baynes reminded the Board that the next meeting date is 
November 30, 2023 

Future Meeting 
Dates 

Ms. Baynes reminded Board members to complete their conflict of 
interest forms and travel vouchers. 

Conflict of Interest 
Forms and Travel 
Vouchers 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 1:18 p.m. Adjourn 
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VIRGINIA BOARD FOR 
ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 

LEAD-BASED PAINT ACTIVITIES REGULATORY REVIEW COMMITTEE 

The Lead-Based Paint Activity Regulatory Review Committee of the Virginia Board for 
Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors (Board) met on October 25, 2023, at the offices of the 
Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), Perimeter Center, 9960 
Mayland Drive, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 

The following members of the Committee were present: 

Stacy J. Armentrout, Chair 
Jeffery Brown 
James Haltigan 
Patrick Studley 
Paul Thomas  

Committee members Michael Baum and Ron Graham were not in attendance. 
The following staff members were present for all or part of the meeting: 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 
Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Regulatory Affairs Manager 

Lee D. Bryant, Regulatory Administrator 
Rachel Harris, Administrative Coordinator 

Mr. Armentrout called the meeting to order at 10:11 a.m. Call to Order 

Ms. Pettus advised the Committee of the emergency evacuation 
procedures. 

Emergency 
Evacuation 
Procedures 

Mr. Thomas moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. Studley 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by: Armentrout, 
Brown, Haltigan, Studley, and Thomas. 

Approval of Agenda 

There were no members of the public present to address the Committee. 

Ms. Pettus introduced to the Committee Rachel Harris, 

Ms. Pettus and Mr. Haughwout provided the Committee with a brief 
overview of the regulatory review process and regulatory reduction 
effort. 

Public Comment 
Period 

Overview 

The Committee was provided with current versions of applicable laws 
and regulations as well as Lead-based Paint Activities Regulations, and 
federal laws and regulations. 

Resources and 
Information 
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The Committee reviewed Part III of the Lead-Based Paint Activities 
Regulations. 

Discussion was held on application procedures and qualifications for 
licensure, including examination requirements for lead supervisors, 
inspectors, and risk assessors. 

Review of Part III 

The Committee recessed from 11:51 p.m. to 12:50 p.m. Recess 

The Committee continued to consider amendments to Part III of the 
regulations. 

Review of Part III 
Continued 

The Committee agreed by consensus that its next meeting will be 
scheduled for December 7, 2023. 

Other Business 

Mr. Armentrout reminded the Committee members to complete their 
conflict of interest forms and travel vouchers. 

Complete Conflict of 
Interest Forms and 
Travel Vouchers 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:14 p.m. Adjourn 

__________________________________________ 
Sandra Baynes, Chair 

__________________________________________ 
Kishore S. Thota, Secretary 

kdg45012
Cross-Out
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INTRODUCTION OF  

NEW BOARD MEMBERS 
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DPOR STAFF UPDATES 
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PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

 

Five minute public comment, per person, with the 

exception of any open disciplinary or application files. 
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Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 
Inspectors 

 
Update on Regulatory Actions 

(as of November 15, 2023) 
 

 
 
Action: Home Inspector Regulations General Review 
Current Stage: Proposed 

• Board reviewed and considered NOIRA stage public comments on 11/4/21. 
• Board reviewed and considered committee recommendations, and adopted proposed regulatory 

text on 11/4/21. 
• Proposed regulatory text submitted for Executive Branch review on 2/14/22. 
• Board adopted revision to proposed regulatory text on 5/12/22. 
• Currently in Executive Branch review. 
• Board voted to amend Proposed stage at 8/24/23 meeting. 

Next Step: Completion of Executive Branch Review 
• Submit amended Proposed stage for Executive Branch Review. 
• Following completion of Executive Branch Review, amendments will be submitted for 

publication in the Virginia Register, and 60-day public comment period. 

Action: SB 607 Amendment (Home Inspector Licensing Regulations) 
Current Stage: Proposed 

• Executive Branch review completed 5/23/2023. 
• Published in Virginia Register on 7/3/23. 
• 60-day public comment period began on 7/3/2023 and concluded 9/1/2023. Several comments 

were received. No comments received at public hearing held on 8/9/23. 

Next Step: Public Comment Review/Amendments 
• Consider public comments and adopt final amendments to regulation at 11/30/2023 meeting. 
• Final amendments forwarded for Executive Branch Review. 

Action: Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations General Review 
Current Stage: NOIRA 

• NOIRA 30-day public comment period concluded 4/26/23, no public comments received. 
• Board voted to adopt Proposed stage on 8/24/23. 

Next Step: Proposed Stage/Executive Branch Review 
• Proposed regulatory amendments submitted for Executive Branch Review. 
• Following completion of Executive Branch Review, amendments will be submitted for 

publication in the Virginia Register, and 60-day public comment period. 

Action: Lead-Based Paint Activities Regulations General Review 
Current Stage: NOIRA 

• Board voted to authorize NOIRA and form regulatory review committee on 8/24/23. 
• Regulatory review committee met on 10/25/23. 
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Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home 
Inspectors 

 
• NOIRA submitted 11/6/23. 

Next Step: Proposed Stage/Executive Branch Review 
• Proposed regulatory amendments submitted for Executive Branch Review. 
• Following completion of Executive Branch review, amendments will be submitted for 

publication in the Virginia Register, and 60-day public comment period. 

Action: Initial Promulgation of Lead-Based Paint Renovation, Repair, 
and Painting Regulation 

Current Stage: Final Regulation 
• Final regulation, as amended, adopted by Board on 8/26/21. 
• Final regulation submitted for Executive Branch review on 1/18/22. 
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VIRGINIA BOARD FOR ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 
 

Summary of Comments for SB 607 Amendment - Home Inspector Licensing Regulations 
 
 
Following is the summary of comments received during the public comment period (July 3, 2023, to September 1, 2023) regarding the Board’s 
proposed amendment of 18VAC15-40-130 of the Home Inspector Licensing Regulations to comply with the requirements of Chapter 398 of the 
2022 Acts of Assembly (SB 607). The comments below represent comments received on the regulation. During the public comment period, the 
Board received comments from four commenters. 
 

 Regulation *#  
Summary of Comment(s) 

 
Draft Board Response  Commenter 

1  
40-130 

Commenter asks whether it is worth considering 
required recommendation to replace any alarms 
with no manufactured date on the device. 

The Board’s Home Inspector SB607 Committee discussed this 
topic in their meeting.  The committee ultimately decided against 
this requirement as it would add more burden than was necessary 
to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public.  The Board 
determined that the proposed disclaimer in 18 VAC 15-40-
130.D.3 was sufficient to protect the public through the least 
restrictive means. 

Huffman Home 
Inspections LLC 

2  
40-130 

Commenter stated “Paragraph J.D.3.  
Recommended Modification.” And appears to have 
attached a corrupted file. 

The Board appreciates the commenters interest in this action but 
cannot identify the section or concern that is being raised. 

AMS Home 
Inspections LLC 

3  
40-130 

Commenter inquired whether there would be a 
resource that defines “good working order.” 

The proposed regulations create a definition for good working 
order, stating “"Good working order" means, with respect to a 
smoke alarm inspected during a home inspection, that the smoke 
alarm is securely attached, not physically damaged, and operation 
of the test function is successful.”   

Ken Black 

4  
40-130 

Expresses support for the proposed regulations, as 
they strike a balance between informing the home 
owner and burdens for home inspectors. 

Thank you for your comments in support of this change. 

Alex Aderton, President, 
Virginia Association of 
Real Estate Inspectors 

DRAFT CONTINGENT ON BOARD REVIEW AND APPROVAL 
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Action: SB 607 Amendment [6003 / 9938]
Commenter Title Comment Date/ID
Huffman
Home
Inspections
LLC

smoke
alarms

Since it is recommended that smoke alarms should be replaced every 10
years and most have no manufacture or installation date on them, I
always recommend that if one can not determine the age of the detector
then it should be replaced. Worth consideration for recommended
language for a report? 

7/3/23 7:44 pm
CommentID:217669
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Action: SB 607 Amendment [6003 / 9938]
Commenter Title Comment Date/ID
AMS Home
Inspections
LLC

Smoke
Alarm
proposed
language.

 

Paragraph J. D. 3.  Recommended modification.

8/7/23 12:24 pm
CommentID:218488
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Action: SB 607 Amendment [6003 / 9938]
Commenter Title Comment Date/ID
Ken Black Smoke

detector
language
clarification

For general consideration:

Is there a state standard or requirement in the VCC code for what
defines "in good working order" for systems or life safety
equipment? Is this left solely to the licensed professional's
judgement to determine?

For example, a previous comment used a recommended timeline
for replacement a possible method to define "in good working
order" which could work, or do smoke detector manufacturers
have a preferred testing method or industry standard? 

Thanks.

8/31/23 10:56 am
CommentID:220034
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Action: SB 607 Amendment [6003 / 9938]
Commenter Title Comment Date/ID
Alex
Aderton,
Virginia
Association
of Real
Estate
Inspectors
(VAREI)

VAREI
Supports
the
Proposed
"Smoke
Alarm"
Language

On behalf of the Virginia Association of Real Estate Inspectors
(VAREI), I write in response to proposed amendments to 18VAC15-
40-130 which require that a home inspection and the report on its
findings include a determination of whether the home's smoke
alarms are in "good working order”.

VAREI supports protecting the health and welfare of the public by
informing homebuyers and sellers about best safety practices. We
appreciate the work of the Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and
Home Inspectors to develop amendments that capture the spirit of
SB 607 (2022), provide homebuyers with needed piece of mind, but
that also do not place undue or arduous burdens on home inspectors.
We also appreciate the opportunity for representatives from VAREI
and our industry to provide input on the drafting of these
amendments.

It is important to note that home inspections are snapshots that
assess the readily accessible components within a home at a specific
point in time. As they are normally conducted shortly after a home
goes under contract, there can be a significant amount of time that
passes between them and when a homeowner takes possession of the
property. Additionally, the majority of components inspected have a
lifespan that can vary greatly. As the proposed amendments state,
any inspection is not a guarantee, warranty, or any form of
insurance.

Assessing the functionality of smoke alarms can be tricky. The only
true way to determine their full viability is with actual smoke, which
would certainly be difficult for the purposes of a home inspection.
That being said, we believe the proposed amendments strike the
appropriate balance by providing homebuyers with useful
knowledge about their smoke alarms, while not placing unnecessary
liability on home inspectors.

In order to determine if a smoke alarm is in good working order, it
must be accessible. That distinction is important since there are
times where they are located in homes in places that are
inaccessible, such as near the tops of cathedral ceilings.
Furthermore, some smoke alarms are now connected to larger
security systems whereby utilizing their test function would notify
the local fire department. The amended requirements for home
inspection reports in 18VAC15-40-130 address these issues
appropriately.

Many home inspectors already include language in their inspection
reports that recommends placement of smoke alarms, and that home
owners should follow manufacturer’s recommendations. We believe
the new language requirements for home inspection reports related
to smoke alarms provide homebuyers with sufficient knowledge
about smoke alarms, and the importance of proper placement,
installation, and maintenance.

Thank you again for the opportunity provide input on this matter.

8/31/23 1:08 pm
CommentID:220036
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Alex Aderton

2021-2023 President, Virginia Association of Real Estate Inspectors
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CONSIDER ADOPTION OF FINAL 
SB607 AMENDMENTS TO  

HI LICENSING REGULATIONS 
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VIRGINIA BOARD FOR ASBESTOS, LEAD, AND HOME INSPECTORS 
 

Summary of Comments for Periodic Review of Public Participation Guidelines Chapter 18VAC 15-11 
 

Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations Chapter 18VAC 15-20 
 

Virginia Lead-Based Paint Activities Regulations Chapter 18VAC 15-30 
 

Home Inspector Licensing Regulations Chapter 18VAC 15-40 
 
Following is the summary of comments received during the public comment periods (July 3, 2023 to July 24, 2023) regarding the 
Board’s periodic review of the Public Participation Guidelines for Chapter 18VAC 15-11, Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations for 
Chapter 18VAC 15-20, Virginia Lead-Based Paint Activities Regulations for Chapter 18VAC 15-30, and Home Inspector Licensing 
Regulations for Chapter 18VAC 15-40. 

 
 Regulation *#  

Summary of Comment(s) 
 

Draft Board Response  Commenter 
1  

15-11 
No comments received for 
Chapter 11: Public Participation Guidelines. 

N/A 

N/A 

2  
15-20 

No comments received for Chapter 20: Virginia 
Asbestos Licensing Regulations. 

N/A 

N/A 

3  
15-30 

No comments received for 
Chapter 30: Virginia Lead-Based Paint Activities 
Regulations. 

N/A 

N/A 

4  
15-40 

 

No comments received for Chapter 40: Home 
Inspector Licensing Regulations. 

N/A 

N/A 
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11/16/23, 11:13 AM Virginia Regulatory Town Hall View Periodic Review

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewPReview.cfm?PRid=2405 1/2

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors

Public Participation Guidelines [18 VAC 15 ‑ 11]

Review 2405
 
 

Periodic Review of this Chapter
Includes a Small Business Impact Review

Date Filed: 6/13/2023

Notice of Periodic Review
Pursuant to Executive Order 19 (2022) and §§ 2.2-4007.1 and 2.2-4017 of the Code of Virginia,
this regulation is undergoing a periodic review.

The review of this regulation will be guided by the principles in Executive Order 19
https://TownHall.Virginia.Gov/EO-19-Development-and-Review-of-State-Agency-Regulations.pdf.

The purpose of this review is to determine whether this regulation should be repealed, amended,
or retained in its current form. Public comment is sought on the review of any issue relating to this
regulation, including whether the regulation (i) is necessary for the protection of public health,
safety, and welfare or for the economical performance of important governmental functions; (ii)
minimizes the economic impact on small businesses in a manner consistent with the stated
objectives of applicable law; and (iii) is clearly written and easily understandable.

The comment period begins July 3, 2023, and ends on July 24, 2023.

Comments may be submitted online to the Virginia Regulatory Town Hall at
http://www.townhall.virginia.gov/L/Forums.cfm. Comments may also be sent to Name: Tanya
Pettus; Title: Board Administrator, Address: DPOR, 9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400, City:
Richmond, State: Virginia, Zip: 23233, Telephone: (804)367-1795, FAX: (866)350-5354, email
address: alhi@dpor.virginia.gov.

In order for you to receive a response to your comment, your contact information (preferably an
email address or, alternatively, a U.S. mailing address) must accompany your comment. Following
the close of the public comment period, a report of both reviews will be posted on the Town Hall
and a report of the small business impact review will be published in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

Contact Information
Name / Title: Tanya Pettus  / Board Administrator

Address:
9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400
Richmond, VA 23233

Email
Address: ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
Telephone: (804)367-1795    FAX: (866)350-5354    TDD: ()-   

Publication of Notice in the Register and Public Comment Period
Published in the Virginia Register on 7/3/2023 [Volume: 39   Issue: 23]

Comment Period begins on the publication date and ended on 7/24/2023

Find a Commonwealth Resource
Department of Planning and Budget
An official website Here's how you know

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2610
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2610
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter11
mailto:ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
https://townhall.virginia.gov/
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11/16/23, 11:13 AM Virginia Regulatory Town Hall View Periodic Review

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewPReview.cfm?PRid=2405 2/2

Comments Received: 0
Review Result

Pending

TH-07 Periodic Review Report of Findings   (not yet submitted)
 ORM Economic Review Form   (6/13/2023)

Attorney General Certification
Submitted to OAG: 6/13/2023
Review Completed: 7/7/2023
Result: Certified

 Review Memo      
 

This periodic review was created by Joe Haughwout on 06/13/2023 at 1:08pm

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\AGMemo_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\AGMemo_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2405\AGMemo_DPOR_2405_v1.pdf
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11/16/23, 11:13 AM Virginia Regulatory Town Hall View Periodic Review

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewPReview.cfm?PRid=2406 1/2

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors

Virginia Asbestos Licensing Regulations [18 VAC 15 ‑ 20]

Review 2406
 
 

Periodic Review of this Chapter
Includes a Small Business Impact Review

Date Filed: 6/13/2023

Notice of Periodic Review
Pursuant to Executive Order 19 (2022) and §§ 2.2-4007.1 and 2.2-4017 of the Code of Virginia,
this regulation is undergoing a periodic review.

The review of this regulation will be guided by the principles in Executive Order 19
https://TownHall.Virginia.Gov/EO-19-Development-and-Review-of-State-Agency-Regulations.pdf.

The purpose of this review is to determine whether this regulation should be repealed, amended,
or retained in its current form. Public comment is sought on the review of any issue relating to this
regulation, including whether the regulation (i) is necessary for the protection of public health,
safety, and welfare or for the economical performance of important governmental functions; (ii)
minimizes the economic impact on small businesses in a manner consistent with the stated
objectives of applicable law; and (iii) is clearly written and easily understandable.

The comment period begins July 3, 2023, and ends on July 24, 2023.

Comments may be submitted online to the Virginia Regulatory Town Hall at
http://www.townhall.virginia.gov/L/Forums.cfm. Comments may also be sent to Name: Tanya
Pettus; Title: Board Administrator, Address: DPOR, 9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400, City:
Richmond, State: Virginia, Zip: 23233, Telephone: (804)367-1795, FAX: (866)350-5354, email
address: alhi@dpor.virginia.gov.

In order for you to receive a response to your comment, your contact information (preferably an
email address or, alternatively, a U.S. mailing address) must accompany your comment. Following
the close of the public comment period, a report of both reviews will be posted on the Town Hall
and a report of the small business impact review will be published in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

Contact Information
Name / Title: Tanya Pettus  / Board Administrator

Address:
9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400
Richmond, VA 23233

Email
Address: ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
Telephone: (804)367-1795    FAX: (866)350-5354    TDD: ()-   

Publication of Notice in the Register and Public Comment Period
Published in the Virginia Register on 7/3/2023 [Volume: 39   Issue: 23]

Comment Period begins on the publication date and ended on 7/24/2023

Find a Commonwealth Resource
Department of Planning and Budget
An official website Here's how you know

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=1212
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=1212
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter20
mailto:ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
https://townhall.virginia.gov/
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11/16/23, 11:13 AM Virginia Regulatory Town Hall View Periodic Review

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewPReview.cfm?PRid=2406 2/2

Comments Received: 0
Review Result

Pending

TH-07 Periodic Review Report of Findings   (not yet submitted)
 ORM Economic Review Form   (6/27/2023)

Attorney General Certification
Submitted to OAG: 6/13/2023
Review Completed: 7/7/2023
Result: Certified

 Review Memo      
 

This periodic review was created by Joe Haughwout on 06/13/2023 at 1:10pm

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\AGMemo_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\AGMemo_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2406\AGMemo_DPOR_2406_v1.pdf
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11/16/23, 11:14 AM Virginia Regulatory Town Hall View Periodic Review

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewPReview.cfm?PRid=2407 1/2

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors

Virginia Lead-Based Paint Activities Regulations [18 VAC 15 ‑ 30]

Review 2407
 
 

Periodic Review of this Chapter
Includes a Small Business Impact Review

Date Filed: 6/13/2023

Notice of Periodic Review
Pursuant to Executive Order 19 (2022) and §§ 2.2-4007.1 and 2.2-4017 of the Code of Virginia,
this regulation is undergoing a periodic review.

The review of this regulation will be guided by the principles in Executive Order 19
https://TownHall.Virginia.Gov/EO-19-Development-and-Review-of-State-Agency-Regulations.pdf.

The purpose of this review is to determine whether this regulation should be repealed, amended,
or retained in its current form. Public comment is sought on the review of any issue relating to this
regulation, including whether the regulation (i) is necessary for the protection of public health,
safety, and welfare or for the economical performance of important governmental functions; (ii)
minimizes the economic impact on small businesses in a manner consistent with the stated
objectives of applicable law; and (iii) is clearly written and easily understandable.

The comment period begins July 3, 2023, and ends on July 24, 2023.

Comments may be submitted online to the Virginia Regulatory Town Hall at
http://www.townhall.virginia.gov/L/Forums.cfm. Comments may also be sent to Name: Tanya
Pettus; Title: Board Administrator, Address: DPOR, 9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400, City:
Richmond, State: Virginia, Zip: 23233, Telephone: (804)367-1795, FAX: (866)350-5354, email
address: alhi@dpor.virginia.gov.

In order for you to receive a response to your comment, your contact information (preferably an
email address or, alternatively, a U.S. mailing address) must accompany your comment. Following
the close of the public comment period, a report of both reviews will be posted on the Town Hall
and a report of the small business impact review will be published in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

Contact Information
Name / Title: Tanya Pettus  / Board Administrator

Address:
9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400
Richmond, VA 23233

Email
Address: ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
Telephone: (804)367-1795    FAX: (866)350-5354    TDD: ()-   

Publication of Notice in the Register and Public Comment Period
Published in the Virginia Register on 7/3/2023 [Volume: 39   Issue: 23]

Comment Period begins on the publication date and ended on 7/24/2023

Find a Commonwealth Resource
Department of Planning and Budget
An official website Here's how you know

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2179
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2179
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter30
mailto:ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
https://townhall.virginia.gov/
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Comments Received: 0
Review Result

Pending

TH-07 Periodic Review Report of Findings   (not yet submitted)
 ORM Economic Review Form   (6/27/2023)

Attorney General Certification
Submitted to OAG: 6/13/2023
Review Completed: 7/7/2023
Result: Certified

 Review Memo      
 

This periodic review was created by Joe Haughwout on 06/13/2023 at 1:12pm

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\AGMemo_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\AGMemo_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2407\AGMemo_DPOR_2407_v1.pdf
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Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation

Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors

Home Inspector Licensing Regulations [18 VAC 15 ‑ 40]

Review 2408
 
 

Periodic Review of this Chapter
Includes a Small Business Impact Review

Date Filed: 6/13/2023

Notice of Periodic Review
Pursuant to Executive Order 19 (2022) and §§ 2.2-4007.1 and 2.2-4017 of the Code of Virginia,
this regulation is undergoing a periodic review.

The review of this regulation will be guided by the principles in Executive Order 19
https://TownHall.Virginia.Gov/EO-19-Development-and-Review-of-State-Agency-Regulations.pdf.

The purpose of this review is to determine whether this regulation should be repealed, amended,
or retained in its current form. Public comment is sought on the review of any issue relating to this
regulation, including whether the regulation (i) is necessary for the protection of public health,
safety, and welfare or for the economical performance of important governmental functions; (ii)
minimizes the economic impact on small businesses in a manner consistent with the stated
objectives of applicable law; and (iii) is clearly written and easily understandable.

The comment period begins July 3, 2023, and ends on July 24, 2023.

Comments may be submitted online to the Virginia Regulatory Town Hall at
http://www.townhall.virginia.gov/L/Forums.cfm. Comments may also be sent to Name: Tanya
Pettus; Title: Board Administrator, Address: DPOR, 9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400, City:
Richmond, State: Virginia, Zip: 23233, Telephone: (804)367-1795, FAX: (866)350-5354, email
address: alhi@dpor.virginia.gov.

In order for you to receive a response to your comment, your contact information (preferably an
email address or, alternatively, a U.S. mailing address) must accompany your comment. Following
the close of the public comment period, a report of both reviews will be posted on the Town Hall
and a report of the small business impact review will be published in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

Contact Information
Name / Title: Tanya Pettus  / Board Administrator

Address:
9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400
Richmond, VA 23233

Email
Address: ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
Telephone: (804)367-1795    FAX: (866)350-5354    TDD: ()-   

Publication of Notice in the Register and Public Comment Period
Published in the Virginia Register on 7/3/2023 [Volume: 39   Issue: 23]

Comment Period begins on the publication date and ended on 7/24/2023

Find a Commonwealth Resource
Department of Planning and Budget
An official website Here's how you know

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewAgency.cfm?AgencyNumber=222
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewBoard.cfm?BoardID=106
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2243
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/ViewChapter.cfm?ChapterID=2243
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter40
mailto:ALHI@DPOR.Virginia.gov
https://townhall.virginia.gov/
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Comments Received: 0
Review Result

Pending

TH-07 Periodic Review Report of Findings   (not yet submitted)
 ORM Economic Review Form   (6/27/2023)

Attorney General Certification
Submitted to OAG: 6/13/2023
Review Completed: 7/7/2023
Result: Certified

 Review Memo      
 

This periodic review was created by Joe Haughwout on 06/13/2023 at 1:13pm

https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\ORM_EconomicImpact_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\AGMemo_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\AGMemo_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
https://townhall.virginia.gov/L/GetFile.cfm?File=C:\TownHall\docroot\Review\2408\AGMemo_DPOR_2408_v1.pdf
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DISCUSSION OF HOME 
INSPECTOR PROPOSED 

REGULATIONS: CLARIFICATION 
OF ACCEPTABLE CPE TOPICS 
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Proposed Guidance Document 
Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 
 
 

Page 1 of 3 

 

BOARD FOR ASBESTOS, LEAD AND HOME 

INSPECTORS 
 

PROPOSED Guidance Document:   
Insurance Requirements for Home Inspectors when Applying under 

Universal License Recognition 
 

Adopted June 8, 2023 

Anticipated Effective Date:   

Effective upon conclusion of the public comment period required pursuant to § 2.2-

4002.1 of the Code of Virginia 

 

 

I. Background 

Section 54.1-205 of the Code of Virginia, effective July 1, 2023, provides a pathway to 
licensure in Virginia for those who met certain requirements in another state.  This is 
applicable to applicants for home inspector licensure in Virginia. 
 
 
II. Issue 

 
The provisions of § 54.1-205 of the Code of Virginia do not provide for a regulatory 
board to impose additional requirements on an applicant if applying pursuant to 
Universal License Recognition.  However, in order to fulfill its obligation to protect the 
health, safety, and welfare of the public, the Board requires all other applicants as a 
home inspector to submit evidence of having obtained general liability insurance with 
minimum limits of $250,000 per occurrence.  Further, once licensed as a home 
inspector, the Home Inspector Licensing Regulations imposes requirements for 
maintaining such insurance or the regulant may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
III. Applicable Regulatory Citations 
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Proposed Guidance Document 
Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 
 
 

Page 2 of 3 

18VAC15-40-30. General requirements for licensure. 
…. 

G. The applicant for licensure shall submit evidence of having obtained general 
liability insurance with minimum limits of $250,000 per occurrence. A business 
liability insurance policy or a commercial general liability insurance policy with 
minimum limits of $250,000 may be considered to meet such requirement, so 
long as the applicant is listed as an additional insured. If for any reason the 
board cannot reasonably ensure that the applicant is sufficiently covered in 
accordance with this subsection, the board may require that requisite coverage 
be obtained in the name of the applicant. Proof of such insurance policy must 
be submitted in order to obtain the license. 

 
IV. Board Policy 
 
As a result of the limitations on the Board’s authority to impose additional requirements 
for home inspector applicants applying pursuant to § 54.1-105, the Board will require a 
home inspector that is licensed under Universal License Recognition to obtain and 
maintain general liability insurance with minimum limitations of $250,000 per occurrence 
within 30 days of the license as a home inspector being issued by the Board.  A 
business liability insurance policy or a commercial general liability insurance policy with 
minimum limits of $250,000 may be considered to meet such requirement, so long as 
the home inspector is listed as an additional insured. If for any reason the Board cannot 
reasonably ensure that the home inspector is sufficiently covered in accordance with 
this policy, the Board may require that requisite coverage be obtained in the name of 
the home inspector. Proof of such insurance policy must be submitted in order to be in 
compliance with the Board’s regulations.  The home inspector is subject to all other 
requirements for maintaining such insurance and submitting proof of such upon renewal 
of the home inspector license.  A regulant that fails to comply with the Board’s 
regulations may be subject to discipline by the Board.. 

 

The Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors will be taking public comment on this 

proposed guidance document.  A 30-day comment period will begin on  

If you wish to comment on the proposed guidance document, you may do so via the Town Hall 

website or you may submit written comments so that they are received no later than to: 

Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 

Board for Asbestos Lead, and Home Inspectors 

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation 

9960 Mayland Drive, Suite 400 

Richmond, VA  23233 
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Proposed Guidance Document 
Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 
 
 

Page 3 of 3 

(804) 367-1795 

ALHI@dpor.virginia.gov 

mailto:ALHI@dpor.virginia.gov
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Virginia Administrative Code
Title 18. Professional And Occupational Licensing
Agency 15. Virginia Board For Asbestos, Lead, And Home Inspectors
Chapter 40. Home Inspector Licensing Regulations

18VAC15-40-30. General requirements for licensure.

A. In addition to the provisions of 18VAC15-40-32, every applicant for a home inspector license shall meet the
requirements provided in this section.

B. The applicant shall be at least 18 years old.

C. The applicant shall provide a mailing address, which shall serve as the address of record. A post office box is only
acceptable as the address of record when a physical address is also provided.

D. In accordance with § 54.1-204 of the Code of Virginia, each applicant shall disclose the following information:

1. All misdemeanor convictions involving moral turpitude, sexual offense, non-marijuana drug distribution, or
physical injury within five years of the date of the application; and

2. All felony convictions during the applicant's lifetime.

Any plea of nolo contendere shall be considered a conviction for the purposes of this section. The record of
conviction received from a court shall be accepted as prima facie evidence of a conviction or finding of guilt. The
board, in its discretion, may deny licensure to any applicant in accordance with § 54.1-204 of the Code of Virginia.

E. The applicant for licensure shall be in compliance with the standards of conduct and practice set forth in Part V
(18VAC15-40-140 et seq.) of this chapter at the time of application, while the application is under review by the
board, and at all times when the license is in effect.

F. The applicant shall report any suspension, revocation, or surrender of a license, certification, or registration in
connection with a disciplinary action or a license, certification, or registration that has been the subject of discipline
in any jurisdiction prior to applying for licensure. The board, in its discretion, may deny licensure to any applicant
based on prior suspensions, revocations, or surrender of licenses based on disciplinary action by any jurisdiction.
The applicant has the right to request further review of any such action by the board under the Administrative
Process Act (§ 2.2-4000 et seq. of the Code of Virginia).

G. The applicant for licensure shall submit evidence of having obtained general liability insurance with minimum
limits of $250,000 per occurrence. A business liability insurance policy or a commercial general liability insurance
policy with minimum limits of $250,000 may be considered to meet such requirement, so long as the applicant is
listed as an additional insured. If for any reason the board cannot reasonably ensure that the applicant is sufficiently
covered in accordance with this subsection, the board may require that requisite coverage be obtained in the name of
the applicant. Proof of such insurance policy must be submitted in order to obtain the license.

Statutory Authority

§§ 54.1-201 and 54.1-501 of the Code of Virginia.

Historical Notes

Derived from Virginia Register Volume 19, Issue 18, eff. July 1, 2003; amended, Virginia Register Volume 27, Issue
11, eff. April 1, 2011; Volume 31, Issue 20, eff. August 1, 2015; Volume 33, Issue 19, eff. July 1, 2017; Volume 38,
Issue 7, eff. December 22, 2021.

11/17/2023

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter40/section32/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/54.1-204/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/54.1-204/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title18/agency15/chapter40/section140/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-4000/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/54.1-201/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/54.1-501/
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/vol19/iss18/v19i18.pdf
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=27:11
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=27:11
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=31:20
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=33:19
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=38:07
http://register.dls.virginia.gov/toc.aspx?voliss=38:07
tpx32535
Highlight
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Website addresses provided in the Virginia Administrative Code to documents incorporated by reference are for
the reader's convenience only, may not necessarily be active or current, and should not be relied upon. To ensure
the information incorporated by reference is accurate, the reader is encouraged to use the source document
described in the regulation.

As a service to the public, the Virginia Administrative Code is provided online by the Virginia General
Assembly. We are unable to answer legal questions or respond to requests for legal advice, including application
of law to specific fact. To understand and protect your legal rights, you should consult an attorney.
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VIRGINIA ACTS OF ASSEMBLY -- 2023 SESSION

CHAPTER 3

An Act to amend the Code of Virginia by adding in Chapter 2 of Title 54.1 a section numbered
54.1-205, relating to Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation; universal license
recognition.

[S 1213]
Approved March 3, 2023

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of Virginia:
1. That the Code of Virginia is amended by adding in Chapter 2 of Title 54.1 a section numbered
54.1-205 as follows:

§ 54.1-205. Universal license recognition.
A. The regulatory boards within the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation shall,

upon application by an individual, recognize licenses or certificates issued by another state as
fulfillment of qualifications for licensure or government certification in the Commonwealth if the
following conditions are met:

1. The individual holds a current and valid professional or occupational license or government
certification in another state in a profession or occupation with a similar scope of practice, as
determined by the board in the Commonwealth;

2. The individual has held the professional or occupational license or government certification in the
other state for at least three years;

3. The board in the other state or state of original licensure required the individual to pass an
examination and to meet certain standards related to education, training, or experience;

4. There are no pending investigations or unresolved complaints against the individual, and the
board in the other state holds the individual in good standing;

5. The individual does not have a disqualifying criminal record as determined by the board in the
Commonwealth in accordance with § 54.1-204;

6. No board in another state has imposed discipline on the licensee, except for discipline involving
only a financial penalty and no harm to the health or economic well-being of the public; and

7. The individual pays all applicable fees.
B. The regulatory boards within the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation shall,

upon application by an individual, recognize work experience in another state as fulfillment of
qualifications for licensure or government certification in the Commonwealth if the following conditions
are met:

1. The individual worked in another state that does not use a professional or occupational license or
government certification to regulate a profession or occupation, but the Commonwealth uses a
professional or occupational license or government certification to regulate a profession or occupation
with a similar scope of practice, as determined by the board;

2. The individual has worked in the profession or occupation for at least three years;
3. The individual passes any examination required by the board of applicants for licensure or

certification; and
4. The individual satisfies the conditions outlined in subdivisions A 5, 6, and 7.
C. The regulatory boards within the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation may

require an individual seeking a professional or occupational licensure or government certification
pursuant to this section to pass a jurisprudential examination specific to relevant state laws and
administrative rules that regulate such profession or occupation if such an examination is required of
other applicants for the same license or certification.

D. For purposes of this section, "other state" or "another state" means any state, territory,
possession, or jurisdiction of the United States.

E. This section shall not apply to any professional services, as defined in § 2.2-4301.
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  HI CPE AUDIT REPORT 
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2022-2024 Biennium October 2023

October 2023 July 2020 - July 2022 -
Activity October 2021 October 2023

Cash/Revenue Balance Brought Forward 66,585

Revenues 0 386,584 269,808

Cumulative Revenues 336,393

Cost Categories:

Board Expenditures 0 53,031 41,417

Board Administration 0 113,279 92,212

Administration of Exams 0 5,153 716

Enforcement 0 7,331 7,487

Legal Services 0 1,610 1,546

Information Systems 0 81,389 58777

Facilities and Support Services 0 60,141 41438

Agency Administration 0 51,879 62091

Other / Transfers 0 0 -75

Total Expenses 0 373,813 305,608

Transfer To/(From) Cash Reserves 0 0 (5,862)

Ending Cash/Revenue Balance 36,646

Cash Reserve Beginning Balance 270,462 0 276,323
Change in Cash Reserve 0 0 (5,862)
Cash Reserve Ending Balance 270,462 0 270,462

Number of Regulants
Current Month 0
Previous Biennium-to-Date 6,344

Biennium-to-Date Comparison

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation
Statement of Financial Activity

Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors
954540
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OUTREACH UPDATE 
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FUTURE MEETING DATES 
a.   February 8, 2024 
b. May 9, 2024 
c.    August 15, 2024 
d. November 21, 2024 
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COMPLETE CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

FORMS AND  

TRAVEL VOUCHERS 
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ADJOURN 
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 01            NOTE:  The conference started at 11:05

 02        a.m., as follows:

 03            MR. CRANOR:  Good morning.  I'm John

 04        Cranor.  I'm a member of the Board for

 05        Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors.  This

 06        is the Informal Fact-Finding Conference to

 07        hear additional information regarding the

 08        regulatory issues involved in this matter.

 09            I now convene this conference to accept

 10       presentation from the department's staff and

 11       those individuals present.

 12            MS. FRYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My

 13        name is Elizabeth Frye.  I'm here

 14        representing department staff.  We also

 15        have other staff members here as well, Free

 16        Williams and Jonathan Bennett.

 17            At this time I'd like to enter the

 18       exhibits into the record.

 19            Board Exhibit No. 1 is the

 20       investigative file, which includes the

 21       Report of Findings.  The file was initiated

 22       based on a complaint received by the

 23       Department on May 9, 2022.

 24            Board Exhibit No. 2 is the notice of

 25       prima facie case dated June 13, 2023, sent
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 01       by USPS certified mail to the respondent at

 02       the address of record and at an additional

 03       address provided to the Board, as well as

 04       both delivery confirmations.

 05            Blackwell Exhibit 1 is a letter from

 06       Elliott Park, attorney for Mr. Blackwell,

 07       requesting an Informal Fact-Finding

 08       Conference on behalf of Mr. Blackwell.

 09            Board Exhibit No. 3 is an email

 10       exchange dated August 17, 2023, between

 11       Tanya Pettus, Board Administrator, and

 12       Mr. Park indicating the IFF request had been

 13       received and granted.

 14            Board Exhibit No. 4 is the Notice of

 15       Informal Fact-Finding Conference dated

 16       September 13, 2023, sent to the respondent

 17       at the address of record and to his attorney

 18       at the address provided to the Board by USPS

 19       and delivery confirmations for both.

 20            If y'all could state your names and

 21       mailing address.

 22            MR. PARK:  Elliott Park for

 23        Mr. Blackwell.

 24            MS. FRYE:  And the mailing address?

 25            MR. PARK:  1011 East Main Street, Suite
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 01        300, Richmond, 23219.

 02            MR. BLACKWELL:  William Blackwell.  33

 03        Hatcher Road, Powhatan, Virginia, 23139.

 04            MS. KILLEN:  Cooper Killen.

 05            MS. FRYE:  It's the address we have on

 06        file for you?  Okay.

 07            So do you have any opening remarks, Mr.

 08       Park?

 09            MR. PARK:  No.  We'll waive.

 10            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  So we can go straight

 11        into counts then.

 12            Count one alleges that the home

 13       inspection report produced by Blackwell

 14       failed to contain the minimum required

 15       elements for a home inspection report.

 16       Those items are enumerated in the Report of

 17       Findings.

 18            Do you have anything to say about those

 19       items?

 20            MR. PARK:  No.

 21            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  During the

 22        investigation, Mr. Blackwell, you

 23        acknowledged that those items were missing.

 24        Do you use a software program to format

 25        your reports?
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 01            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 02            MS. FRYE:  Have you updated the

 03        template?

 04            MR. BLACKWELL:  Absolutely.  I spoke

 05        with Mr. Hairston and we went over those

 06        things.  We were going over the report, I

 07        mean, word by word and I realized that it

 08        wasn't there and it was corrected the next

 09        day.  I sent him a confirmation that I had

 10        those corrected.

 11            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  And was that the

 12        standard template, inspection report

 13        template, that you were using before?

 14            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 15            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  You have modified

 16        that since then?

 17            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes, ma'am.

 18            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Cranor, do you have any

 19        questions regarding count one?

 20            MR. CRANOR:  So you changed the wording

 21        on the report to say drainage, waste, and

 22        vent systems, including all fixture?

 23            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 24            MR. CRANOR:  Okay.  What about the fuel

 25        storage and distribution systems?
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 01            MR. BLACKWELL:  I updated that as well.

 02            MR. CRANOR:  Okay.

 03            MR. BLACKWELL:  I know I might not have

 04        had some things worded exactly correct.  I

 05        got it verbatim from Mr. Hairston.

 06            MS. FRYE:  So that speaks more to count

 07        two.  Those are the items that were

 08        enumerated in count two.

 09            MR. CRANOR:  Okay.

 10            MS. FRYE:  But that's fine.  You're

 11        saying you updated also for count two as

 12        well those items?

 13            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 14            MS. FRYE:  Structural system, pump

 15        system, and air conditioning system.

 16            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 17            MS. FRYE:  So in the past you didn't

 18        have an area to put that on your report?

 19        Is that--

 20            MR. BLACKWELL:  I had an area to put

 21        that on there, but where I guess I just

 22        didn't update the exact verbiage, what they

 23        wanted on there.  Like, I would have

 24        heating and cooling, but instead of saying

 25        heating and the source, energy source,
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 01        which I didn't have on there.

 02            MS. FRYE:  And now those items have

 03        been updated?

 04            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes, ma'am.  Everything

 05        has been corrected and updated.

 06            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Cranor, do you have

 07        further questions about the composition or

 08        characteristics of readily accessible

 09        components not included in the home

 10        inspection report that's in count two?

 11            MR. CRANOR:  No.

 12            MS. FRYE:  Do you have anything

 13        additional you'd like to say--

 14            MR. BLACKWELL:  No, ma'am.

 15            MS. FRYE:  -- regarding this?  Okay

 16        then we can move on to count three at this

 17        time.

 18            So count three alleges that Blackwell

 19       failed to act as a licensee in a manner as

 20       to safeguard the interest of the public by

 21       failing to note fire damage in the ceiling

 22       joists and rafters observable in the

 23       accessible HVAC area at the time of

 24       inspection and by failing to recommend

 25       further evaluation of the fire damage in the
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 01       report.

 02            What would you like to say regarding

 03       this?

 04            MR. BLACKWELL:  I noted in the report

 05        that there was past fire damage and I took

 06        a photo of it.  There were numerous repairs

 07        that were made to the structure that

 08        appeared adequate to me, you know, when I

 09        saw them.  It was numerous repairs.

 10            In the photo that I put in there it

 11       looked like, you know, they had been

 12       blackened just from smoke damage to me then,

 13       but there were repairs made.  I told

 14       Mr. Killen after when I was going over the

 15       report that I did see many repairs that, you

 16       know, that were done to the structure.

 17            MS. FRYE:  Did you feel there was any

 18        cause for concern about the fire damage

 19        that you saw?

 20            MR. BLACKWELL:  No, I didn't.  Just

 21        what I saw, where the repairs were made,

 22        they looked okay.  It appears to have been

 23        there for a very long time.

 24            Because a lot of times when we see

 25       this--well, we don't see the fire damage.

�0011

 01       It's been painted with a brown paint to

 02       cover up the smell.  But there was no odors

 03       or anything so in my mind they had been

 04       there for quite sometime.

 05            Then I think I saw on the engineer's

 06       report that they had investigated and it had

 07       been there for like over forty years.  So

 08       it's kind of like it had been there and had

 09       been performing, had been on the roof and

 10       didn't see any issues with it.

 11            MS. FRYE:  So the engineer's report did

 12        indicate it had been there for

 13        approximately forty years based on the

 14        information they received from the

 15        neighbor.  This is Exhibit C-4 to the

 16        Report of Findings.

 17            But the engineer, Mr. Field, stated,

 18       While the damaged roof structure has

 19       demonstrated stability over the past forty

 20       years, in no way would it meet current

 21       building homes.

 22            Then later on it says, Prolonged

 23       exposures to temperatures exceeding 150

 24       degrees Farenheit can result in permanent

 25       losses in strength properties.  Once wood
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 01       has alligatored due to fire and heat

 02       exposure, structural integrity of the wood

 03       had been lost.

 04            So it appears that based on Mr. Field's

 05       statement that although it happened quite

 06       some time ago, that that may not be an

 07       indication of structural integrity.

 08            MR. BLACKWELL:  What I saw there was

 09        numerous repairs made to it.  We see

 10        repairs often that--you know, it appeared

 11        okay.

 12            The one photo, not just--what I was

 13       sent originally when I first got the

 14       complaint, this area here, that--I never saw

 15       that, and that's what I wrote on there.

 16       That was--but there was no repairs or

 17       anything made to that.  At least, it doesn't

 18       appear there were.  If I had seen that--

 19            MS. FRYE:  I don't believe the photo is

 20        a part of the record.  Would you like to

 21        add it to the record?

 22            MR. BLACKWELL:  Well, that's--when I

 23        responded to the complaint with

 24        Mr. Hairston, that's the only thing I had

 25        seen.
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 01            MS. FRYE:  So the record would have

 02        been what was attached to the Report of

 03        Findings that I sent to you.  So if it was

 04        sent in advance of that, it may not have

 05        been included in the record if it was sent

 06        along with the allegation letter.  If you

 07        would like to add it to the record so that

 08        we may refer to it, we can certainly do

 09        that.

 10            MR. PARK:  You want to do that now or

 11        later?

 12            MS. FRYE:  Yeah.  We can do that now so

 13        Mr. Cranor has an opportunity to look at

 14        it.  So this is going to be Blackwell

 15        Exhibit 2.  It's a photograph of the

 16        rafters.  We'll get a copy of that.

 17            So you can address that in just a

 18       moment when he gets back and we all have an

 19       opportunity to look at that.

 20            So how did you access the HVAC system

 21       to perform your inspection of the HVAC

 22       system?

 23            MR. BLACKWELL:  Through the--it was on

 24        the engineer's report.  It was a panel in

 25        the wall.
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 01            MS. FRYE:  The same panel?

 02            MR. BLACKWELL:  I was just like a large

 03        panel in the attic.

 04            MS. FRYE:  And did you have an

 05        opportunity to look at the engineer's

 06        photos that were in the record?  They are

 07        Exhibit W-1, W-2, W-3, W-4.

 08            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 09            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  Were you able to see

 10        the alligatored wood shown in Exhibits W-2,

 11        W-3, and W-4?

 12            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 13            MS. FRYE:  So he accessed according to

 14        his photographs and his engineer's report,

 15        he accessed from the same HVAC panel.

 16            So you're saying that you never saw the

 17       alligatored wood when you accessed that or

 18       you saw it and felt that it was repaired?

 19            MR. BLACKWELL:  I saw it and felt it

 20        was repaired.

 21            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  Did you not feel it

 22        was necessary to mention that there was

 23        previous fire damage to that extent, to the

 24        alligatoring extent?

 25            MR. BLACKWELL:  With the repairs there,
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 01        I didn't.  No.  I didn't at the time.

 02            MS. FRYE:  Can I ask what is

 03        the--what's the threshold for you to feel

 04        that the repairs were sufficient to ensure

 05        the structural integrity of the--

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  It's just by the--I

 07        guess it's just the feel when you see

 08        something that looks like it was extensive

 09        repairs made and they looked adequate to

 10        me.  In my opinion they looked okay.

 11            MS. FRYE:  And you didn't feel they

 12        needed further evaluation from--

 13            MR. BLACKWELL:  No, ma'am.

 14            MS. FRYE:  -- from a contractor or

 15        engineer?

 16            MR. BLACKWELL:  I didn't feel like I

 17        had any reason to.  It was performing.

 18            MS. FRYE:  When you provided your

 19        written response, which is in the record as

 20        Exhibit R-1 to the Report of Findings, you

 21        stated the area of the concern where the

 22        charred and alligatored ceiling joists and

 23        rafters were found was not visible and

 24        readily accessible at the time of

 25        inspection and not found until an
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 01        insulation company cut an opening to

 02        install insulation.

 03            So that's in reference to this

 04       photograph that we're adding as Blackwell

 05       Exhibit 2; is that correct?

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 07            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  But you did--you're

 08        stating that you did see alligatored

 09        ceiling joists and rafters elsewhere?

 10            MR. BLACKWELL:  Right, that were

 11        repaired.  Those didn't appear to be

 12        repaired.

 13            MS. FRYE:  Okay.

 14            MR. BLACKWELL:  By no means--just based

 15        on the black and white photo I had, I

 16        didn't know where that was.  It didn't look

 17        like any repairs were made to that area.

 18            MS. FRYE:  I do have photographs in

 19        color I believe if you all would--this is

 20        Exhibit W-1, W-2, W-3, and W-4, if you

 21        would like to see them in color.  When we

 22        send them out, they come in black and

 23        white.  That way you'll be able to review

 24        those.

 25            So if you saw this level of
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 01       alligatoring--even though you're saying that

 02       you saw the level of alligatoring in the

 03       access area where the engineer's photos were

 04       taken, you felt that the repairs were

 05       sufficient and so you didn't feel the

 06       alligatored wood needed to be mentioned at

 07       all either in the report or further

 08       evaluated?

 09            MR. BLACKWELL:  I felt like the repairs

 10        were adequate.  I did note on there the

 11        wood had been blackened, which indicated a

 12        past fire, but I didn't see any--with all

 13        the repairs that were made, they looked

 14        adequate to me.

 15            MS. FRYE:  To you is there a

 16        distinction between wood being blackened

 17        and the wood that's depicted in the

 18        engineer's photographs with the alligator

 19        char?

 20            MR. BLACKWELL:  I didn't see any

 21        charring on the wood that I had taken a

 22        photo of, didn't see any charring.  They

 23        were blackened.  Just looked like it was

 24        from smoke damage is what I noted.

 25            MS. FRYE:  So you're saying that you
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 01        entered the attic space from the same

 02        access point as Mr. Field?

 03            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 04            MS. FRYE:  But did not see the things

 05        that Mr. Field saw?

 06            MR. PARK:  Rephrase that question.

 07        You're asking he didn't see what the

 08        engineer saw?  He can't answer that.

 09            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  What's depicted in

 10        the engineer's photographs, you did not see

 11        those?

 12            MR. PARK:  Photograph 1, 2, 3, 4.

 13        Let's go through one by one.

 14            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  So 1 is looking like

 15        it's the access door.  That's the access

 16        door that you also used?

 17            MR. BLACKWELL:  Uh-huh.

 18            MS. FRYE:  And then photograph 2 he's

 19        on his hands and knees.  Exhibit W-2.

 20            MR. PARK:  Is there a question about

 21        that?

 22            MS. FRYE:  Just in general did you see

 23        the items that are depicted in that

 24        photograph?

 25            MR. PARK:  Photograph 2?
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 01            MS. FRYE:  In photograph 2.

 02            MR. BLACKWELL:  It's kind of hard to

 03        tell from the photo, but looking at it I

 04        would have to say yes.  It looks like it

 05        was--yeah.

 06            MS. FRYE:  Can you speak up for the

 07        benefit of the court reporter, please.

 08            MR. BLACKWELL:  Ma'am?

 09            MS. FRYE:  Can you speak up please for

 10        the benefit of the court reporter.

 11            MR. BLACKWELL:  I would say based on

 12        where he was, I guess I did see that, but

 13        there's--well--and repairs.

 14            It's really kind of hard to tell

 15       exactly.  I couldn't say for sure that I

 16       could see that.  It looks like it was

 17       insulation there above it.  I'm just trying

 18       to figure out what--

 19            MS. FRYE:  Well, we can move on to the

 20        Exhibit W-3 if you'd like.  In Exhibit W-3

 21        it looks like the charred rafters are above

 22        Mr. Field.  Did you see those charred

 23        rafters?

 24            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 25            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  And in Exhibit W-4,
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 01        the fourth photograph, he's holding a

 02        flashlight above his head.  Did you see any

 03        of that charred wood that's depicted there?

 04            MR. BLACKWELL:  I can't tell exactly

 05        where this is but--

 06            MS. FRYE:  If you take a look in your

 07        inspection report, which is Exhibit C-3,

 08        page 24 of your inspection, item G.  It

 09        says G item 2 picture.  Is that second

 10        photograph the same area as Exhibit W-4 is

 11        depicting?

 12            You see the arrow on the furnace--

 13            MR. CRANOR:  What page are you on

 14        again?

 15            MS. FRYE:  On the PDF it's 42, page 42,

 16        but it's page 24 of the inspection report.

 17            So you believe that's the same area

 18       that Exhibit W-4 is depicting as well?

 19            MR. BLACKWELL:  It appears to be.

 20            MS. FRYE:  Can I ask if there is

 21        charred or alligatored wood beyond

 22        blackening, do you feel that needs to be

 23        disclosed in the home inspection report if

 24        it has been repaired?

 25            MR. BLACKWELL:  Looking back, yes.  But
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 01        I guess verbal with Ms. Killen wasn't

 02        adequate.

 03            MS. FRYE:  So you stated to Ms. Killen

 04        following the inspection that there was

 05        charred or alligatored wood?

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  I know that there were

 07        many repairs made to the structure.

 08            MS. FRYE:  Okay.

 09            MR. BLACKWELL:  It would have been

 10        blackened in a past fire and repairs had

 11        been made.

 12            MS. FRYE:  And your inspection report

 13        says there is evidence of a past fire.  The

 14        rafters, joists, and roof sheathing are

 15        blackened, but there's no mention of

 16        the--of any further extent of the fire

 17        damage in the report there.  Is that

 18        correct?

 19            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 20            MS. FRYE:  And when you spoke with her

 21        afterwards you stated there were many

 22        repairs made?

 23            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.  I'm sure I did.

 24        There were many repairs made and they

 25        appeared adequate, you know.  There were

�0022

 01        many repairs made to the structure.

 02            MS. FRYE:  Were you able to look at the

 03        support--the damaged beam under the

 04        upstairs knee wall which supported the roof

 05        load?

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  I don't recall seeing

 07        that.

 08            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Field said it was

 09        directly within the HVAC access.  But you

 10        did not have a chance to observe it or you

 11        did not observe it?

 12            MR. BLACKWELL:  I don't recall seeing

 13        it.

 14            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Cranor, do you have any

 15        questions?

 16            MR. CRANOR:  I just want to make sure I

 17        understand a few things.  I think I heard

 18        you say that you saw painted wood that had

 19        been burned and they painted it.  Is that

 20        what you said?

 21            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.  Generally you

 22        would see--like if it was past fire damage,

 23        you would see it painted.

 24            MR. CRANOR:  But you didn't see that?

 25            MR. BLACKWELL:  I did not see that.
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 01            MR. CRANOR:  Okay.  And you said that

 02        you saw the fire charred wood, but you

 03        thought it was adequate because it had been

 04        repaired?  Is that correct?

 05            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 06            MR. CRANOR:  That's all I've got.

 07            MR. PARK:  Mr. Cranor, if I may, can I

 08        ask a few questions.

 09            So, Mr. Blackwell, looking at the

 10       engineer's photograph No. 1, describe what

 11       that depicts.

 12            MR. BLACKWELL:  It's just the opening

 13        to get into the HVAC knee wall access.

 14            MR. PARK:  It doesn't show any charred

 15        wood or any blackening or anything like

 16        that?

 17            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.

 18            MR. PARK:  Let me direct you to

 19        engineer photograph No. 2.  Do you know

 20        where that is or where that was taken?

 21            MR. BLACKWELL:  It appears based on

 22        where the HVAC is it's to the left if

 23        you're looking into in that area.

 24            MR. PARK:  All right.  Are you sure?

 25            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.  I mean, that's

�0024

 01        what it looks like.

 02            MR. PARK:  You're not sure?

 03            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.

 04            MR. PARK:  And in that photograph do

 05        you see any charred or blackened wood?

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 07            MR. PARK:  And in that photograph do

 08        you see any repairs to that charred or

 09        blackened wood?

 10            MR. BLACKWELL:  Appears to be.  Yes.

 11            MR. PARK:  Can you show Mr. Cranor

 12        where that is in the photograph.

 13            MS. FRYE:  Would you be able to

 14        describe that so we have it on the record.

 15            MR. BLACKWELL:  That area.

 16            MR. PARK:  Describe it.

 17            MR. BLACKWELL:  It's above the

 18        charred--

 19            MR. PARK:  What color is it?

 20            MR. BLACKWELL:  It's new wood it looks

 21        like to me.

 22            MR. PARK:  Let me direct you to the

 23        engineer's photograph No. 3.  Do you know

 24        where that was taken?

 25            MR. BLACKWELL:  It appears to be above
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 01        the HVAC system, in that access.

 02            MR. PARK:  Do you see any charred or

 03        blackened wood in that photograph?

 04            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 05            MR. PARK:  Do you see any repairs to

 06        the charred or blackened wood?

 07            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.

 08            MR. PARK:  Can you indicate and

 09        describe where that is in the photograph.

 10        Use words as well so the court reporter--

 11            MR. BLACKWELL:  It appears to be above

 12        the HVAC and--with this 3D thing here it's

 13        kind of--it appears to the rear of it, rear

 14        of attic, best I can describe.

 15            MR. PARK:  Looking at engineer's

 16        photograph No. 4, do you know where that

 17        photograph was taken with certainty?  Do

 18        you know?

 19            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.

 20            MR. PARK:  Do you see any blackened or

 21        charred wood in that photograph?

 22            MR. BLACKWELL:  Yes.  I mean, I can't

 23        tell by the 3D things, but it looks like--I

 24        can't tell for sure, but it looks like this

 25        may have been wood cut out.  I don't know.
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 01        I mean, it looks--I mean, it looks like

 02        maybe this was like a plywood or something.

 03        I don't know.

 04            MR. PARK:  So fair to say you just

 05        don't know where that photograph was taken?

 06            MR. BLACKWELL:  Right.

 07            MR. PARK:  No further questions.

 08            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Cranor, do you have any

 09        further questions about that count?

 10            MR. CRANOR:  So thinking back, you

 11        don't remember that area having plywood

 12        that was cut out later?  You don't remember

 13        that?

 14            MR. BLACKWELL:  No.  I couldn't tell

 15        you.

 16            MR. CRANOR:  Okay.

 17            MS. FRYE:  Can I ask is there a

 18        threshold for when you would--if you saw

 19        fire damage, when you would include the

 20        statement "Please contact a professional or

 21        qualified professional for further

 22        evaluation"?

 23            MR. BLACKWELL:  The photo that was in

 24        the engineer's report that I did not see.

 25            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  Which we have added
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 01        additionally as Blackwell 2.

 02            MR. BLACKWELL:  I didn't see repairs

 03        made--I didn't see the area that was

 04        obviously concealed, but if there was no

 05        repairs made to that, I would definitely

 06        send someone.

 07            MS. FRYE:  And that would be on page 4

 08        of Exhibit C-4.

 09            Would you ever recommend evaluation of

 10       elements that had been repaired?

 11            MR. BLACKWELL:  It just depends.  It

 12        depends on--I don't know--the way it--I

 13        guess it's just a case by case thing.  If

 14        it was really something that was--looked

 15        like it was really jack legged and didn't

 16        look like it was going to perform or wasn't

 17        performing I would.

 18            MS. FRYE:  Would you be able to provide

 19        maybe a little bit of background about how

 20        long you've been doing home inspecting and

 21        maybe the volume of your work?

 22            MR. BLACKWELL:  Well, actually it's

 23        twenty years this month I've been doing it.

 24        Background experience just--well, jobs

 25        working in construction, done roofing,
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 01        insulation, renovated houses in The Fan for

 02        this one guy for a couple of years and

 03        just--I don't know.  Talking about a Jack

 04        of all trades but a master of none of them.

 05            But I know a lot about a lot of things

 06       and some things you just--you have that

 07       feeling that something isn't right and you

 08       know it, but what I saw appeared to be okay.

 09            MS. FRYE:  What volume of home

 10        inspecting do you do over a period of time?

 11        Maybe in a year how many homes do you

 12        inspect?

 13            MR. BLACKWELL:  Not now.  Maybe I've

 14        averaged anywhere from I'd say average 250

 15        a year.  Some points I've done when we're

 16        really rolling 400 in a year.

 17            MS. FRYE:  Is that typically new

 18        residential structures or older homes or--

 19            MR. BLACKWELL:  Mostly older homes

 20        probably, you know, because not too many

 21        new construction.  But the average probably

 22        about--not as many.  You know, very old

 23        homes.  Twenty, forty new homes.

 24            MS. FRYE:  Do you have--have you had

 25        lots of experience seeing fire damage in
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 01        older homes before?

 02            MR. BLACKWELL:  I've seen fire damage

 03        in older homes.  A lot of times we see

 04        damage that's been repaired and painted

 05        usually, but I have seen fire damage.

 06            MS. FRYE:  Do you have anything further

 07        you'd like to say before we turn to

 08        Ms. Killen?

 09            MR. PARK:  Nothing further.

 10            MS. FRYE:  Ms. Killen, it's your

 11        opportunity to address anything in the

 12        Report of Findings if you would like to.

 13            MS. KILLEN:  Can I stand up?

 14            MS. FRYE:  Yeah.  Of course.

 15            MS. KILLEN:  Hi.  I'm Cooper.  I'm the

 16        homeowner.  Me and my fiancee at the time--

 17            MR. PARK:  Mr. Cranor, if she's going

 18        to testify, she should be sworn in.

 19            MR. WILLIAMS:  This is an Informal

 20        Fact-Finding Conference and we don't have a

 21        formal process for swearing in witnesses.

 22            MR. PARK:  We have a court reporter.

 23            MR. WILLIAMS:  That's true.  We have a

 24        court reporter.  Because it's an informal,

 25        not formal hearing, we do not swear in
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 01        witnesses.

 02            MR. PARK:  I want to object and put on

 03        the record that this witness has not been

 04        sworn in.

 05            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  That's made for the

 06        record.

 07            MS. KILLEN:  So we purchased this home.

 08        Me and my fiancee, we actually moved to

 09        Richmond.  This was our first time buying a

 10        home so we didn't really know what we were

 11        doing and we trusted Mr. Blackwell would--I

 12        don't know--care for the home and make sure

 13        that we were aware of the risks.

 14            I obviously don't think that every

 15       single home inspector is ever going to catch

 16       every single thing, but this has been so

 17       egregious and so obvious and I've had so

 18       many people who have seen it when we were

 19       trying to figure out what to do that were

 20       aghast of this.

 21            I understand that the upper attic was

 22       not visible, but upon entering the HVAC area

 23       there were explicitly extremely charred and

 24       extremely broken wood.  Some of it had been

 25       repaired.
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 01            Directly above the HVAC was butt joist,

 02       butt joint, that was like this and had no

 03       connection, which was very obviously wrong.

 04            Directly next to the HVAC was this beam

 05       under the knee wall under where me and my

 06       fiancee would sleep in our bedroom, and it

 07       was completely alligatored, very obvious to

 08       the naked eye, just sitting in the HVAC area

 09       and not structurally sound and needed to be

 10       replaced.

 11            So I just--I don't, like, want ill for

 12       anyone, but, like, the fact that this cost

 13       us hundreds of thousands of dollars and a

 14       lot of emotional scarring was like really

 15       terrible.

 16            And I don't think it was intentional,

 17       but, like, whether you didn't see it or you

 18       didn't note it, and you verbally told me

 19       that you weren't concerned about it and that

 20       lots of old homes have fire damage and it

 21       was fine.  Then to find out the opposite was

 22       basically a nightmare for me and my family.

 23            So that's just what I wanted to say.

 24            MS. FRYE:  I just have one question.

 25            When you hired the insulation
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 01       contractor, how did you determine that you

 02       needed to hire an insulation contractor?

 03       Was that based on the information in the

 04       inspection report?

 05            MS. KILLEN:  Yeah.  He had noted that

 06        we needed insulation.  We had gotten

 07        asbestos removed prior to that because they

 08        wouldn't put the insulation in until we

 09        removed the asbestos.  They had noted--they

 10        said something about our house being really

 11        fucked up, is what they said.  I don't

 12        usually say that, but that's what they

 13        said.  And it kind of concerned me.

 14            But then we had the insulation people

 15       come in and they looked at the side knee

 16       wall area where the HVAC was and they kept

 17       making these comments that were really weird

 18       about fire damage.  I was like, well, he

 19       said it was fine so I'm sure it's fine.

 20            I also don't know why it wasn't noted

 21       that there wasn't attic access to the

 22       majority--not the majority, but maybe half

 23       of the attic.  Upon them opening that

 24       I--they were just like we don't feel

 25       comfortable, like, working on this home so
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 01       we--like, you need to hire a structural

 02       engineer and that's how we--like that came

 03       about.

 04            MS. FRYE:  Is there anything additional

 05        you would like to say?

 06            MS. KILLEN:  Uh-uh.

 07            MS. FRYE:  At this time, Mr. Blackwell

 08        and Mr. Park, we can turn back to you if

 09        you'd like to say anything.

 10            MR. PARK:  I wanted to ask Ms. Killen a

 11        question if that's okay.

 12            MS. FRYE:  So this is not an

 13        adversarial--

 14            MR. PARK:  Your answer is no?  I can't

 15        do that?

 16            MR. WILLIAMS:  You can ask a question,

 17        but we can't compel a response.

 18            MR. PARK:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask a

 19        question.

 20            Ms. Killen, what's not clear to me in

 21       the record is the chronology.  So you hired

 22       Mr. Blackwell to do an inspection.  He did

 23       the inspection.  And then when did you close

 24       on the sale of the house?  I don't need the

 25       exact date, but I'm trying to get a sense

�0034

 01       of--

 02            MS. KILLEN:  I think it was--sorry.

 03        Maybe August 13, 2021.

 04            MR. PARK:  And so these other people

 05        that came--you know, the insulation people

 06        and so on--was that after closing?

 07            MS. KILLEN:  Yeah.

 08            MR. PARK:  Okay.  No further questions.

 09            MS. FRYE:  Is there anything additional

 10        that you'd like to say?

 11            MR. BLACKWELL:  No, ma'am.

 12            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Cranor, do you have

 13        anything further?

 14            MR. CRANOR:  Can I ask Ms. Killen.

 15            The little area that's where the air

 16       handler is, did you ever look in there after

 17       he was there before the insulation people

 18       and before the engineer?  Did you ever look

 19       in there?

 20            MS. KILLEN:  I didn't look in there

 21        when he--like, during the home closing.

 22        Like, I didn't know what I was doing.  I

 23        was, like, a first time home buyer.  But

 24        upon the asbestos people going in there

 25        and, like, making weird comments, I did go
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 01        in there and was like oh my gosh.  What is

 02        this?

 03            MR. CRANOR:  Do you know if anyone ever

 04        cut--it looked like one of the photos--it's

 05        W-4 photo.  It looks like someone cut out

 06        some plywood.  Did anybody cut out that

 07        plywood?

 08            MS. KILLEN:  Can I see?

 09            MS. FRYE:  So she doesn't have access

 10        to the full record.

 11            MS. KILLEN:  Okay.  Nobody ever cut

 12        anything.  They--the insulation was put in.

 13        So there was, like, foam insulation put in

 14        the knee wall, which actually, like, I

 15        think probably helps the case because if

 16        you remove those, it's like super blackened

 17        behind them.  And that was, like, the

 18        extent of what happened when they decided

 19        to cease.

 20            MR. CRANOR:  Thank you.

 21            MS. FRYE:  Mr. Blackwell, I'll give you

 22        another opportunity.

 23            MR. BLACKWELL:  Nothing further.

 24            MS. FRYE:  Okay.  At this time we will

 25        go ahead and conclude the IFF.  I'm going
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 01        to give you all a brief overview of what

 02        happens from here.

 03            Mr. Cranor is going to write up a

 04       summary and a recommendation of whether he

 05       believes there's violations of the

 06       regulations, and, if so, what sanctions, if

 07       any, he feels are appropriate.

 08            When you receive a copy of that in the

 09       mail, you'll receive also a copy of a notice

 10       about when the Board will meet to decide the

 11       case.

 12            The recommendation is just that.  It's

 13       a recommendation.  Nothing is final until

 14       the full board votes.

 15            Because you all participated here

 16       today, you will each be able to address the

 17       full board when they vote to decide the case

 18       for up to five minutes.  It's not the time

 19       to bring new evidence, but you can discuss

 20       anything that's contained within the summary

 21       at that time.  Okay.

 22            MR. BLACKWELL:  Okay.

 23            MS. FRYE:  Anybody have any questions?

 24            Then I thank you all for being here

 25       today.
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 01            MR. CRANOR:  Thank you.

 02            NOTE:  The conference concluded at

 03        11:40 a.m.
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 01            NOTE:  The conference started at 12:58

 02        p.m., as follows:

 03            MR. CRANOR:  Good morning.  Or good

 04        afternoon.  I'm John Cranor, a member of

 05        the Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors.

 06        This is the Informal Fact-Finding

 07        Conference to hear additional information

 08        regarding the regulatory issues involved in

 09        this matter.

 10            I now convene the conference to accept

 11       presentations from the department's staff

 12       and those individuals that are present.

 13            MR. BENNETT:  Thank you, Mr. Cranor.

 14        My name is Jonathan Bennett and I'm here on

 15        the part of department staff.  We also have

 16        two individuals of staff who are present to

 17        observe, Free Williams and David Parker.

 18            The first thing I'm going to do is

 19       introduce the exhibits into the record.

 20            Board Exhibit 1 is the revised Report

 21       of Findings and its collective exhibits.

 22       Then Board Exhibit 2 is the notice of

 23       Informal Fact-Finding Conference, which was

 24       sent from myself to Mr. Azari on September

 25       14, 2023, just notifying him of today's
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 01       conference and that notice was delivered.

 02            At this time, Mr. Azari, could you just

 03       state your name and address for the record.

 04            MR. AZARI:  Yes.  Farbod Azari.  My

 05        address is 1230 Archie Lane, Richmond

 06        Virginia, 23231.

 07            Let me silence this.

 08            MR. BENNETT:  Thank you.  That's what I

 09        was going to ask.  Thank you very much.

 10            Okay.  Thank you.  Before we kind of

 11       jump into the revised Report of Findings,

 12       can you give just as a general background

 13       Mr. Cranor just some overall information on

 14       your experience in home inspecting.

 15            MR. AZARI:  Yes.  I am an engineer by

 16        schooling.  I went to school for--from--to

 17        2016 at VCU, minored in physics and math as

 18        well.  Then after which I worked for the

 19        Corp from 2015 or '16 to about 2018.  Then

 20        after that until about 2020 I worked on

 21        Facebook server plants, commissioning them

 22        doing quality control.  Then I got to the

 23        point where--should I talk slower?

 24            MR. BENNETT:  You're good.

 25            MR. AZARI:  Then I worked for the Corp
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 01        and I worked for the Facebook server plant.

 02        Around 2019, 2020, got to the point where

 03        the bosses would have a new truck every

 04        week and I wasn't getting any, you know,

 05        promotion.

 06            So I was doing all the brain work.  So

 07       I said all right, I'm going to start my own

 08       company and so I did because I knew so much

 09       about commercial construction.  That was my

 10       job.  Then I started that.

 11            I already had experience in

 12       construction because we built some

 13       commercial properties for my father, just

 14       us, so I already knew all the process and

 15       all that.  So I had a really good amount of

 16       knowledge to take into it.

 17            So I took all the courses and all that

 18       and got my company off the ground.  Yeah.

 19       Now we're at 96 five stars.  So we're doing

 20       good where I am now.

 21            MR. BENNETT:  Thank you.  The court

 22        reporter will let you know if she needs

 23        to--if she needs you to repeat anything or

 24        something like that, she'll let you know.

 25        And if we have a spelling or anything like
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 01        that, I try to do a good job of catching

 02        stuff like that.

 03            Then at this point we'll go ahead and

 04       we'll just jump into the revised Report of

 05       Findings.

 06            Count one of the Revised Report of

 07       Findings alleges that Mr. Azari violated the

 08       Board's regulations by failing to complete

 09       16 contract hours of CPE during the

 10       license--the previous license renewal cycle,

 11       so from September 2020 to September 2022, by

 12       affirming his compliance with CPE

 13       requirements of Board Regulation

 14       18VAC15-40-72 through submitting the renewal

 15       application.

 16            Mr. Azari, what would you like to say

 17       regarding count one?

 18            MR. AZARI:  I didn't quite pick up on

 19        that.  They told me I was good until 2026.

 20            MR. BENNETT:  Who told you?

 21            MR. AZARI:  The licensing office.  I

 22        sent--because I do about maybe like fifty

 23        to sixty per year because I do a lot of

 24        courses just to actually stay up on it.

 25        Then I sent a bunch in and they said you
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 01        were good until 2026, so on and so forth.

 02        I have the messages if you need me to

 03        forward to you.

 04            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So what count one

 05        is specifically getting at is back in

 06        February of 2023 the Board had reached out

 07        to you to ask to verify the 16 CPE contract

 08        hours for the prior license cycle.  So it

 09        would have been September 2020 through

 10        September 2022.

 11            So, you know, I guess my main question

 12       would be do you have verification for CPE

 13       hours for that time period, September 2020

 14       through September 2022?

 15            MR. AZARI:  I mean, I sent in what I

 16        could find when they messaged me and then I

 17        had a bunch of others that I sent in

 18        afterwards.  I think they said that counted

 19        for the next cycle.  I'm not sure exactly--

 20            MR. BENNETT:  Yeah.  So we have the--so

 21        we have--what we have is, you know, on

 22        March 13 you had emailed the Board a

 23        certificate from ICA of an 18-hour

 24        inspection course--

 25            MR. AZARI:  Yes.
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 01            MR. BENNETT:  -- that ICA could not

 02        verify.  So the Board had reached back out

 03        to you and asked if you did any others in

 04        the previous license cycle and then you

 05        submitted a 16-hour course certificate from

 06        American Home Inspection Training, AHIT,

 07        but that one was dated--that's in the

 08        record as Exhibit C-7.  That was dated

 09        February 23, 2023, and also could not be

 10        verified by AHIT.

 11            So, you know, I guess again my main

 12       question would be do you have any sort of

 13       certification for courses that you took from

 14       September 2020 through September 2022?

 15            And again I will note that we do have

 16       in Exhibit R-3, we have the ones that you

 17       submitted for 2023, which were verified from

 18       ICA and those were completed it looks like

 19       in May of 2023.  So we have those.  I think

 20       those may be the ones that you were

 21       referring to earlier.

 22            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  And I sent in

 23        another bunch after that that I did at

 24        McKissock.  I think I added those two as

 25        well.  And I had a four-hour NRS course
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 01        that I did with Mr. John and I had another

 02        one that I did last year that was also

 03        four-hour course that I did also turn in

 04        when they first said for me to send in

 05        stuff.  So I don't know if they recorded

 06        that one or not.

 07            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 08            MR. AZARI:  So part of my problem--I'll

 09        be perfectly frank.  Part of my problem is

 10        I wasn't actually aware of the CE needs.

 11        Right?  So I would just do them just to do

 12        them.  Right?  Because if you learn one

 13        thing from each class, you learn one thing

 14        from each class.  Right?

 15            And I'm just kind of a book person

 16       anyways, kind of a nerd.  So I just take

 17       these courses because I like taking courses.

 18            So I think from '20 to '22 I did ones

 19       here and there that I would come across,

 20       like a three-hour course or a four-hour

 21       course, so on and so forth.  No two-hour

 22       course I've ever taken were the same ones

 23       except for new construction, because you

 24       kind of have to.  There's always something

 25       new.
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 01            So I didn't actually, like, keep them

 02       to turn in.  Like, I don't have the one that

 03       I did with him a month and a half ago

 04       because as soon as I get them I clean out

 05       everything and I send it to--and I told the

 06       Board.  I said from now on I'm going to send

 07       you courses as soon as I do them so we don't

 08       have any of this confusion again.

 09            So I sent the one I did with Mr. John

 10       in.  I did another forty and I had already

 11       sent into them.

 12            So I'm going to definitely stay up on

 13       that now so I don't have the same situation

 14       again.  I messaged them and said as soon as

 15       I do one it's coming straight to you.

 16            And then what happened was actually the

 17       40 I did turn in they actually said--one was

 18       waste water--that wouldn't count so they

 19       took that one out too.  I'm perfectly fine.

 20       Right?  That's why I'm doing it upfront now,

 21       so I don't have those problems.

 22            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So, you know, I

 23        will note just to be clear, Exhibit C-8 is

 24        a copy of what the Board's renewal template

 25        is.  So, like, when you renew your license
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 01        you fill out this template and on that

 02        template, you know, it states all fees are

 03        nonrefundable, the total of $50 and proof

 04        of insurance required by Board Regulation

 05        18VAC15-40-30 are due by a certain date.

 06        By remitting the renewal fee you are

 07        certifying that you are in full compliance

 08        with the Board's regulations, including

 09        having completed CPE requirements in

 10        accordance with 18VAC15-40-72.

 11            It looks like you had submitted your

 12       renewal fee for 2022 at the end of August,

 13       so around August 29, 2022.  So you would

 14       have filled out that form.

 15            So, you know, I guess my main question

 16       would be on that date, August 29, 2022,

 17       would you have had 16 CPE hours at that

 18       date?

 19            MR. AZARI:  I would think so from all

 20        the courses I did, but in order for me to

 21        go back and find them I also probably

 22        couldn't.

 23            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 24            MR. AZARI:  Because I just knock them

 25        out and then just do it and they get sent.

�0013

 01        That's why I said from now on I

 02        specifically said as soon as I do them

 03        they're coming straight to you.  I'm going

 04        to correct that.

 05            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Are you also

 06        keeping copies of your certifications for

 07        yourself as well?  Like, are you keeping

 08        those copies as well?

 09            MR. AZARI:  No.  I don't even have this

 10        from a month ago because I get so many

 11        messages per week.  I get bombarded so I

 12        just clean everything out.  I don't even

 13        have the one I got from Mr. John.  So I

 14        just try to keep everything clean.

 15            But again, I'm going to start to do

 16       that from now on because I wasn't aware of,

 17       you know, the recordkeeping needed when it

 18       comes to stuff like this.  So I'll just do

 19       that.

 20            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  I will note

 21        just--you know, I can't advise you one way

 22        or another, but I will note just for your

 23        reference Board regulation 18VAC15-40-78

 24        states each licensee shall maintain of the

 25        satisfactory--shall maintain evidence of
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 01        the satisfactory completion of CPE at least

 02        three years following the end of the

 03        license renewal cycle for which the CPE was

 04        taken.

 05            MR. AZARI:  Okay.  I was not aware of

 06        that and I'm sorry about that.  I did not

 07        know that.  I apologize.

 08            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Mr. Cranor, do you

 09        have any questions on count one?

 10            MR. CRANOR:  I do not.

 11            MR. BENNETT:  I'm looking over my notes

 12        now.  I think most of my questions are

 13        going to be about count two after this, but

 14        I'm just double checking.

 15            Yeah.  I think most of mine are going

 16       to be count two.  So, Mr. Cranor, you didn't

 17       have anymore questions on count one?

 18            MR. CRANOR:  I do not.

 19            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  We'll go ahead and

 20        move into count two.  Count two alleges

 21        that Mr. Azari in providing the responses

 22        during the investigation regarding the AHIT

 23        course and the AHIT certificate provided

 24        false, misleading or incomplete responses

 25        to the Board's agent in the investigation.
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 01            What would you like to say regarding

 02       count two?

 03            MR. AZARI:  About the AHIT one?

 04            MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  So if you read

 05        count two and if you read the revised

 06        Report of Findings, the AHIT certificate,

 07        which could not be verified by AHIT, Ms.

 08        Britta Pricco-Byers, P-r-i-c-c-o hyphen

 09        Byers, B-y-e-r-s, who's the operations

 10        manager, she stated that Mr. Patton, Mark

 11        Patton, who is the person that you said was

 12        the instructor, is not the instructor for

 13        AHIT.  Mr. Chitwood, who is the person who

 14        signed that certificate, is only an

 15        instructor in she said Kentucky.  And, you

 16        know, she also could not verify that you

 17        took a course with AHIT either through AHIT

 18        or by the wholesaler.

 19            Mr. Patton in his interview stated that

 20       he is only a licensed home inspector in

 21       Tennessee and he's not an instructor

 22       anywhere, and Mr. Chitwood stated that he

 23       does not have record of you taking the AHIT

 24       course.  He does not know you.  So--

 25            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  Right.  It's like
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 01        weird, right?  Like why would that happen?

 02        Is that what the question is?

 03            MR. BENNETT:  Essentially, yes.

 04            MR. AZARI:  So what happened was I got

 05        the original--so because Clint Laney, which

 06        I think at least one person here spoke to,

 07        he was my original teacher when I first

 08        started a long time ago.  I took the 70

 09        through his--or ICA, which he's a teacher

 10        for.  One of those was field training.

 11        That didn't count.  That's fine.

 12            But I got--so I was messaging him one

 13       day and said what's a good NRS course

 14       because I like to do those a lot.  There's

 15       so much new construction around here.

 16       Right?

 17            So Clint said, well, here's some good

 18       ones.  Then he sent me maybe two or three

 19       links to PDFs that were NRS courses from

 20       several places and then I kind of went

 21       through them and said that was good and I

 22       finished it.  It was--I think 16 hours was

 23       that one, or 17.

 24            Then I had to pay for it obviously.  So

 25       then I paid $300, which was double what the
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 01       class actually cost, which I thought was

 02       kind of weird.  Then I found out

 03       afterwards--then I paid--I believe it was

 04       through an online portal somewhere.  And

 05       then that's where I got the cert from a

 06       secretary in Virginia Beach I believe that's

 07       near Clint.  They know each other and he

 08       knows Mark and Joe and all that.  Yeah.

 09            So it was my--so the basic summary is

 10       it was my mistake for--and I won't do that

 11       part again--turning in something that

 12       wasn't, like, learned or done through

 13       official means.

 14            I personally didn't see the harm in it.

 15       Right?  But I do apologize.  We're not going

 16       to do the unofficial means again.  We're

 17       going to go straight to the websites, how I

 18       did for my other god knows how many courses.

 19            But I was actually the one that gave

 20       the contact info for those people as well.

 21       So I wasn't trying to hinder anything.  I

 22       was telling everybody who, like, to talk to

 23       about this and that and so on and so forth.

 24            The biggest mistake I would say I made,

 25       which wasn't insidious at all--it was
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 01       innocent quite frankly.  I said, hey, you

 02       got something good?  He said yeah, here.

 03            Then you'll obviously have to pay for

 04       it, so I did and turned it in.  I did a

 05       four-hour course before that that I also

 06       turned in.  I had field training that I also

 07       turned in.

 08            So it's kind of my ignorance as a new

 09       business owner that you can't just kind of

 10       go around doing stuff, and then when someone

 11       asks, you can't say you did it if it wasn't

 12       done through official channels.  And that

 13       was the only instance where I did something

 14       through an unofficial channel and then

 15       turned it in.

 16            So again I completely apologize.  It's

 17       not insidious.  I'm not lazy.  I'm not any

 18       of that, I mean, clearly.  I'm not dumb.

 19       Right?

 20            So I'll gladly do fifty, sixty hours a

 21       year, but I definitely have to do a better

 22       job of, one, through official means

 23       only--and this was the only one that we had

 24       a problem with--and then, secondly, keeping

 25       track of them, and, thirdly, I said to them
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 01       I would send them as soon as I did them.  So

 02       I'm going to avoid all the situations.

 03            MR. BENNETT:  Who is Mark Patton?

 04            MR. AZARI:  Mark Patton was the person

 05        that Clint Laney said works for AHIT and

 06        that he was--that was his secretary that

 07        sent me the cert.  That's what I was told.

 08        I've never actually spoken to Mark or Joe.

 09            Because they all know each other.

 10       Right?  And that's what I was told.

 11            MR. BENNETT:  So who actually taught

 12        this course?

 13            MR. AZARI:  It was a PDF.

 14            MR. BENNETT:  So it wasn't an actual

 15        course?  It was just a PDF and it was

 16        just--

 17            MR. AZARI:  Like the McKissock courses

 18        I took and ICA.  They're literally just

 19        PDFs.

 20            So again it wasn't insidious on my

 21       part.  I'm not sure what I even got or what

 22       I even paid for, but yeah.  I won't be doing

 23       unofficial means again.  It will strictly be

 24       through online portals and website.

 25            And I apologize for going--I didn't
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 01       think of it as something bad.  I said here's

 02       a course I did.  You know, they asked me for

 03       another one and I sent another one and I

 04       sent another one and sent another one.

 05            It's not that I'm lazy.  I just I guess

 06       didn't stay on top of like the official

 07       means and method that I should have for that

 08       and I apologize.

 09            MR. BENNETT:  So what I'm trying to

 10        figure out is Exhibit I-6 Mr. Patton was

 11        interviewed by the investigator.

 12            Mr. Patton stated he is a licensed home

 13       inspector in Tennessee, not licensed in

 14       Virginia.  He is not an instructor for any

 15       home inspector entity, including AHIT.  He

 16       has never instructed a course entitled

 17       16-hour Home Inspection continuing education

 18       course and he did not teach any education

 19       courses and he stated he does not know who

 20       you are.

 21            So what I'm trying to figure out is,

 22       you know, you had said to the investigator

 23       that Mr. Patton was the instructor.  And so

 24       I'm a little confused as to again who Mark

 25       Patton is when he is telling the
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 01       investigator he's not an instructor at all.

 02            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  So that part I'm

 03        kind of confused too, which is why I said,

 04        if anything, I'm kind of a victim here

 05        because when--so I was told that by Clint.

 06        Right?  Clint knows all these guys.  Right?

 07            So I was told by Clint that this is the

 08       AHIT rep and that's the secretary that sent

 09       us the cert.  I said so we should be okay

 10       then.  So why are they having problems?

 11       Right?

 12            So that's kind of where we got stuck.

 13       I got this cert after I did all this stuff

 14       and I paid 300 bucks, which is double what

 15       the course costs.  So why didn't nobody

 16       punch it in their system?  Like, now they're

 17       asking me why it's not here.

 18            I didn't do anything wrong or insidious

 19       or on purpose.  Right?  So I kind of got

 20       stuck in the middle of it all with a bunch

 21       of dudes out in--where?  Tennessee?

 22            MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  Mr. Patton said he

 23        was in Tennessee.

 24            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  Which is what really

 25        kind of frustrates me because I paid double
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 01        for what a class costs.  Right?  Which I

 02        wasn't told it was only 150 bucks through

 03        the website.  Right?

 04            So then I did everything I needed to

 05       do.  I got it and had it sitting around and

 06       then y'all asked for it.  I sent in a

 07       four-hour course as well, which was

 08       perfectly valid.  I sent in field training,

 09       which they said didn't count.

 10            And I harmlessly sent this one and said

 11       here you go.  I sent in two other full ones.

 12       So it wasn't insidious on my part.

 13            I was told that the secretary that sent

 14       it, she worked directly for Mark Patton.

 15       That's the name I was told.  I've never

 16       actually spoken to Mark, which is probably

 17       why he stated he didn't know me.  Right?

 18            So again it was entirely harmless on my

 19       end.  I meant nothing insidious by it.  I'm

 20       not lazy.  I didn't try to lie or cheat or

 21       steal or any of that stuff.

 22            I can do a ten page long calculus

 23       problem.  Right?  I'm not dumb.  In this

 24       case I was, quite frankly, because I didn't

 25       do something through official means.  I just
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 01       turned it in because I thought I had it.

 02            MR. BENNETT:  Do you have a copy of

 03        that email from Mr. Patton's secretary that

 04        you received that certificate?

 05            MR. AZARI:  I don't know.  This was

 06        probably a year ago or nine months ago, ten

 07        months ago.  I own two businesses so I get

 08        like a thousand emails a week.  I don't

 09        even have the message from Mr. Cranor a

 10        month from--and like I said, that's another

 11        thing I'm going to do is keep that stuff

 12        from now on so I don't ever have an issue

 13        again.

 14            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  What about any

 15        sort of payment record?

 16            MR. AZARI:  I don't.  No.

 17            MR. BENNETT:  How did--do you recall

 18        how you paid?  Like was it, you know,

 19        credit card?  Venmo?  Cash?  Check?

 20            MR. AZARI:  It wasn't cash.  It wasn't

 21        check.  It was a portal of some sort,

 22        whether it be a payment system or

 23        something.

 24            MR. BENNETT:  So some sort of online

 25        banking?
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 01            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  And then I went onto

 02        the website afterwards and I found out the

 03        course was 150 bucks instead of 300.  I was

 04        like, What the hell is happening here?  I'm

 05        stuck, you know.

 06            MR. BENNETT:  Which website?

 07            MR. AZARI:  The AHIT website.  I went

 08        to the actual website.  I was like, Why did

 09        I pay 300 bucks for this?  I found out it

 10        was 150.  I was like, Did someone make out

 11        with my money or something?

 12            MR. BENNETT:  Is there--so one of

 13        your--in your second interview with the

 14        investigator you stated that Patton and Joe

 15        Chitwood would be able to confirm the

 16        certificate and confirm that you took the

 17        course.

 18            MR. AZARI:  Yes.  Because Clint Laney

 19        had told me that they were the ones that

 20        would be able to, you know, verify for me.

 21            MR. BENNETT:  But did you ever--you

 22        never talked to either one of those?

 23            MR. AZARI:  No.  And I actually gave

 24        the contact info for the both of them as

 25        well.  So I wasn't trying to hold anything
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 01        up.  I actually said here's the contacts

 02        that I have and I turned them all in.  So I

 03        answered I believe almost every phone call.

 04        I called back quickly.  I gave contact info

 05        when I needed to.  I gave everything I had,

 06        you know, so on and so forth.

 07            And also just to keep in mind like I

 08       said--I don't know how many times I've said

 09       this now.  It's not that I'm like too lazy

 10       to do CEs because I have more than what I

 11       need.  Right?  And I'm always going to be

 12       doing CEs.

 13            I think the biggest mistake I made here

 14       was I kind of was naive and just thought I

 15       could turn in something that's gone through

 16       an unofficial way that couldn't be kept

 17       track of.  So that was an ignorant thing on

 18       my part for sure.

 19            MR. BENNETT:  Well, I want to make sure

 20        I got this right because I may be wrong.

 21        You said Mr. Laney, he's the one that sent

 22        you the link for this course?

 23            MR. AZARI:  Yes.

 24            MR. BENNETT:  Do you have a copy of

 25        that?
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 01            MR. AZARI:  No.

 02            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 03            MR. AZARI:  A long time.  I mean, me

 04        and Clint have been working together since

 05        I started.  He pretty much helped me start

 06        my business because he works in Virginia

 07        Beach with one of the biggest inspection

 08        companies in Virginia.

 09            I did my field trainings there.  I've

 10       gone back probably two or three times to do

 11       more field trainings for the hell of it.  I

 12       didn't actually turn those in either because

 13       that doesn't count.

 14            Yeah.  I did my 70 through ICA.  I'm

 15       always asking new questions in the field.  I

 16       have messaged the boss and then they'll text

 17       me about this and that.  So we've been in

 18       touch since I pretty much started.

 19            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Can you--again

 20        because I want to make sure I understand

 21        this.  Can you briefly describe the course

 22        for me again.  You know, I had seen in your

 23        interview that you had stated that it was

 24        an interactive PDF.

 25            So I guess my question would be is it
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 01       like you're--you know, is it like, you know,

 02       you're clicking through modules and

 03       answering questions or--just kind of briefly

 04       describe what it was like.

 05            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  It was pretty much

 06        like what the McKissock course was, which

 07        was you're just scrolling through a PDF.

 08            Now, again with all this stuff that

 09       happened afterwards, I don't even know if

 10       that, like, was an official, like, AHIT

 11       thing.  That might have just been an NRS PDF

 12       that I got and that's when I got the cert

 13       afterwards.  But it was quite a lengthy--you

 14       know, it was a click through, like scroll

 15       PDF with info and defects and all that stuff

 16       on each page.

 17            Again it was done unofficially and

 18       definitely was ignorant of me or naive of me

 19       to just think I could just turn that in.  It

 20       wasn't insidious.  I think that's the

 21       biggest takeaway here.  There was no

 22       callousness at all.  It was just me just

 23       doing stuff and turning it in.

 24            MR. BENNETT:  Did you reach out to

 25        Mr. Laney at all after you found out about
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 01        all this?

 02            MR. AZARI:  I did.  I was like, Clint,

 03        what the hell is going on?  Then he was

 04        like I'm going to try to get in touch with

 05        the secretary again, because they're

 06        apparently close to each other.

 07            He's like, hey, like why is he having

 08       trouble?  Like, why aren't these guys

 09       picking up their phones and so on and so

 10       forth.

 11            Yeah.  Because I was like, Clint, what

 12       the hell is going on here?  Like, I'm

 13       getting--not screwed, but, like, why am I

 14       the one that's in trouble when, like, I

 15       didn't really--not that I didn't do anything

 16       wrong because obviously it was ignorant of

 17       me to just turn in something that I didn't

 18       do through official channels, but I also

 19       didn't think it would be an issue because I

 20       thought a course was a course, but it turned

 21       out that's not the case.  I definite won't

 22       do it again.

 23            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Did you ask him

 24        specifically about Mr. Chitwood or

 25        Mr. Patton?
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 01            MR. AZARI:  What do you mean?  Like ask

 02        him--

 03            MR. BENNETT:  Well, I guess my question

 04        would be--you know, you had said earlier--

 05            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  To get contact info.

 06        Yes.

 07            MR. BENNETT:  -- he's the one that, you

 08        know, relayed that information to you and I

 09        believe you said earlier that he knew them.

 10            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.

 11            MR. BENNETT:  So you know--

 12            MR. AZARI:  All the home inspectors,

 13        I'm sure Mr. Cranor knows, they know each

 14        other through these places.  They're all

 15        teachers on the circuit that all fly around

 16        this stuff so--

 17            MR. BENNETT:  So the reason I ask is

 18        Exhibit I-8 is Mr. Chitwood's interview

 19        with the investigator and he stated he

 20        doesn't know who you are.  He has no record

 21        of you taking a AHIT course.

 22            MR. AZARI:  Correct.  Yes.

 23            MR. BENNETT:  He doesn't know who Mark

 24        Patton is.  He's never instructed a home

 25        inspector course in Virginia, cannot verify
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 01        the AHIT certificate that you submitted.

 02        And so I guess--

 03            MR. AZARI:  I don't know how to speak

 04        for Joe because I've never talked to Joe.

 05        I was just told by Clint that these guys,

 06        that's their secretary, and they're all

 07        teachers and they work for AHIT.  If you

 08        had any questions, y'all could contact

 09        them, and that's why I gave you the contact

 10        info.  I was just handing out numbers I was

 11        just getting.

 12            I was like, Why is this such a huge

 13       mess?  It's so simple.

 14            You know, so I've never personally

 15       spoken to Mark or Joe ever.  So he's not

 16       lying.  He's perfectly accurate.  I'm not

 17       lying.  I mean, I literally never spoke to

 18       Mark or Joe.  I just gave them the info that

 19       y'all needed.  I said here, these people

 20       might know why this isn't showing up.

 21            MR. BENNETT:  Well, I guess my main

 22        question would be, you know, you had stated

 23        that you essentially paid double for this

 24        course.

 25            MR. AZARI:  I did.  Yeah.
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 01            MR. BENNETT:  And so when you--

 02            MR. AZARI:  $300.

 03            MR. BENNETT:  I guess I'm a little

 04        confused.  When you found that out--you

 05        have all these people's contact

 06        information.  Did you follow up with any of

 07        them?

 08            MR. AZARI:  I tried to call Joe a

 09        million times.  He never picked up his

 10        phone.  I was like, What's going on?

 11            I think I gave you Mark's info as well.

 12       I'm not sure.  But I had a number for him.

 13            But yeah.  I was quite frustrated.  I

 14       was like I paid after--because I was asked,

 15       like, why isn't this showing up?  I said,

 16       What the hell?

 17            So I messaged their office too.  I

 18       said, guys, like, is this cert not showing

 19       up?  They said no.  I'm like I paid 300

 20       bucks.  Like, what's going on here?  Then I

 21       went to the website and I saw it was only

 22       150, you know.

 23            MR. BENNETT:  Did you contact AHIT

 24        about it?

 25            MR. AZARI:  I believe I did.  Yes.  I
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 01        messaged one secretary like months ago,

 02        just one message.  I was like why isn't

 03        this showing up?  She just said we can't

 04        find it in our system and that was it.

 05        Then that's when I had the contact info for

 06        Mark and Joe and I just sent that.  I got

 07        that from Clint.

 08            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Mr. Cranor, do you

 09        have any questions on count two?

 10            MR. CRANOR:  I don't think so.  I think

 11        everything I've had questions on has been

 12        answered.

 13            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 14            MR. AZARI:  I just want to reiterate

 15        again I'm not dumb.  I'm not lazy at all.

 16        I'm not insidious.  I'm like the quiet kid

 17        that just studies a lot.

 18            You kind of make friends in this

 19       work--I guess there's inspectors who are

 20       bros and hang out and all that stuff.  You

 21       know, I thought I was getting taken care of

 22       and helped.  Then when I asked for a course,

 23       oh great, here's a course I had.  I was all

 24       giddy about it, didn't think I'd have an

 25       issue.
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 01            Then I sent a four-hour course again

 02       with the same one.  That was perfectly fine.

 03       So it's not like I'm not doing stuff.  I do

 04       fifty, sixty hours a year.

 05            I sent in another one with ICA.  That

 06       was field training.  Then Mr. Kennedy

 07       actually--I think that's something we need

 08       to mention.  I think we spoke to Mr. Kennedy

 09       directly and I think that one was okay, but

 10       it just didn't count.  It was field

 11       training.

 12            Again, ignorant on my part because I'm

 13       new and I didn't know you can't do field

 14       training.  That doesn't count.

 15            So yeah.  After working all day, you

 16       know, I made an ignorant, naive error and I

 17       got screwed really, but I'm not really

 18       interested in that part it.

 19            I just want to, you know, clear it up

 20       and just make sure that everyone knows I'm

 21       not lazy, I'm not insidious, I work

 22       extremely hard.  I went to school for a long

 23       time.  I've worked in some big places.  So

 24       I'm not any of those things.

 25            MR. BENNETT:  Are you referring to the
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 01        very first ICA certificate that you had

 02        sent in?

 03            MR. AZARI:  Yes.

 04            MR. BENNETT:  Exhibit C-3?

 05            MR. AZARI:  I guess so.  Yeah.

 06            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Well, the reason I

 07        asked, that's the one that's signed by

 08        Jesse Kennedy.

 09            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  And they talked to

 10        him directly.  I believe that's what

 11        happened.  That's what I was told.

 12            MR. BENNETT:  So Exhibit C-4 is a

 13        collection of emails between the Board and

 14        ICA staff, and ICA staff Kevin Vanbelle

 15        responded and stated that he confirmed with

 16        the program manager that we did not make

 17        that certificate, the person you attended a

 18        pre-license course with ICA at the time,

 19        but ICA did not currently offer CE in

 20        Virginia.  This was back in March of 2023.

 21        I don't know if they have at this point.

 22            And I will note that certificate that's

 23       in Exhibit C-3 is different from the

 24       certificate in Exhibit R-3, which are the

 25       ones that you had submitted in May which
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 01       were ICA which were verified specifically.

 02       In the Exhibit R-3 exhibit certificates,

 03       none of those are signed by an instructor.

 04            MR. AZARI:  Jesse Kennedy I think did

 05        that one but that was--so I did--so ICA

 06        definitely does offer in Virginia.  I'm not

 07        sure why they said that because I actually

 08        did courses with them a couple times.  So

 09        I'm not sure where the confusion is with--

 10            MR. BENNETT:  No.  What I'm saying is

 11        Exhibit R-3 is the ICA certificates that

 12        have been verified.  They do not contain a

 13        signature.  Exhibit C-3 is the ICA

 14        certificate that could not be verified and

 15        that ICA said, you know, we didn't create

 16        it, but that one is signed.

 17            MR. AZARI:  So I was told by--that--did

 18        y'all talk to Mr. Kennedy at all afterwards

 19        at all because I think he did verify that

 20        it was field training and that he was okay

 21        with it, but then the licensing department

 22        here said that field training doesn't

 23        count, which is fine.

 24            MR. BENNETT:  So I am looking at the

 25        evidence list which is at the end of the
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 01        revised Report of Findings.  I don't see an

 02        interview with Mr. Kennedy.  What is the

 03        complete record is what I sent you.

 04            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.

 05            MR. BENNETT:  So I'm not sure--

 06            MR. AZARI:  I'm not sure either.

 07            MR. BENNETT:  -- whether it happened or

 08        not, but I'm just going off of what we have

 09        in the record, you know, is just what I'm

 10        pointing out.

 11            You know, the only thing I was asking

 12       about is just that, you know, ICA said that

 13       they couldn't verify it and it wasn't

 14       something that they created and when you

 15       compare it to the ones that were verified--

 16            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  So the ones that

 17        were verified, I did those online directly

 18        through their portals, which is where I did

 19        my initial courses when I first started

 20        like the ninety million hours or something.

 21        That's when I did those there and I did

 22        these ones online as well.

 23            That one was field training.  That was

 24       given to me by Clint and Jesse had okayed

 25       it.  That's what that one is.  I don't think
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 01       that one got written down.  I'm not sure.

 02       You know, but no big deal.

 03            But I do know--because like I said, I

 04       do go with Clint every so often and I do

 05       just go hang out and do a couple houses

 06       because they've been knocking them out since

 07       the 1970s.  So I always go learn something

 08       and I bring that back.  Then that was field

 09       training that didn't count, which is

 10       perfectly fine.

 11            But I do know or I was told that

 12       Mr. Kennedy was--gave it the thumbs up.  But

 13       that wasn't like an online portal class.

 14       That was literally field training and Jesse

 15       Kennedy was okay.

 16            Because Clint teaches for ICA.  He's an

 17       actual instructor.  So yeah.  And that one

 18       they gave the thumbs up to I think at some

 19       point, but it didn't count here because it's

 20       field training.  Again that's perfectly fine

 21       because I had--

 22            MR. BENNETT:  Mr. Cranor, do you have

 23        any other questions?

 24            MR. CRANOR:  I don't.

 25            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Mr. Azari, did you
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 01        have anything else that you wanted to say

 02        in closing or--hang on.  Actually looking

 03        at it, you said Mr. Laney is an instructor?

 04            MR. AZARI:  Yes.  For ICA and I think

 05        he teaches for one other place as well and

 06        he also does like--I think he works for

 07        Quality Home Inspections with Floyd Gibbs.

 08        I don't know if you guys know Floyd.  Yeah.

 09        They were the two that trained me and I

 10        stay in touch with them.

 11            MR. BENNETT:  Do you take any of his

 12        courses?

 13            MR. AZARI:  No.  I don't--they do--so

 14        they do the 25 field inspection ones when

 15        you first start, so I did that.  I did the

 16        classes with them as well, the one week of

 17        classes, and then I did the 25 inspection

 18        in Virginia Beach with them.

 19            Yeah.  We just stay in touch.  But

 20       Clint teaches for ICA.  So ICA's ones, if

 21       you're not doing your initial course work,

 22       your sit down classes, they have online ones

 23       and that's the ones that I take that look

 24       different from the field training one.

 25            MR. BENNETT:  I guess my--so Mr. Laney,
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 01        does he--

 02            MR. AZARI:  He works for--

 03            MR. BENNETT:  No.  My question is does

 04        he teach continuing education or just teach

 05        initial?

 06            MR. AZARI:  So I don't know if he

 07        teaches CEs.  That would be a question for

 08        him because he's an instructor with them.

 09        I don't know their business or that stuff,

 10        but he does do the 25 courses.

 11            I know that for sure because I went

 12       there and I also send him students.  I have

 13       people contacting me for them.  I don't

 14       really do that so I just send them there.

 15       So we have a working relationship.

 16            MR. BENNETT:  Yeah.  I mean, my main

 17        question was are you taking CEs taught by

 18        him?

 19            MR. AZARI:  Not currently.  No.  He

 20        flies around a lot.  He's always flying.

 21        So I think from what I see--I don't know

 22        for sure, but I think he does only like the

 23        25 field trainings--

 24            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 25            MR. AZARI:  -- and then the sit down
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 01        classes where--like, he's in Kentucky one

 02        day and he's in New York, that kind of

 03        thing.  I don't think he does CEs, but

 04        that's a question for him.  I don't--

 05            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Like I said, my

 06        main question was whether you took CE

 07        classes with him.  That was it.

 08            Okay.  Did you have anything that you

 09       would to say in closing?

 10            MR. AZARI:  Yeah.  I just wanted to

 11        restate again I went to Benedictine High

 12        School.  I've been studious my whole life.

 13        I went to college.  I studied hard.  Our

 14        design project got second place, you know.

 15        It was a wireless tattoo that would make a

 16        paraplegic walk.  That was our project.

 17            So I'm not a dummy.  I kind of am a

 18       dummy because I paid 300 bucks for a $150

 19       class.

 20            But I definitely won't be doing things

 21       through unofficial channels again, and in

 22       order to remediate with the licensing office

 23       I immediately told them.  I apologize.  From

 24       now on I will only be sending you things I

 25       do online and I will send them to you as
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 01       soon as I do them, and I've already done

 02       that about three or four times now.  So I'm

 03       just going to stay on top it and never have

 04       a problem.

 05            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Then I will--

 06            MR. AZARI:  One more thing.  Sorry.

 07            MR. BENNETT:  No.  Go ahead.

 08            MR. AZARI:  Part of it is being new and

 09        just not knowing the ins and outs.  I just

 10        don't know that.  This is a learning

 11        experience for me.  I'd rather do something

 12        like this as opposed to something where

 13        someone's house caught on fire.  Right?

 14            So I've learned a lot.  Again I

 15       thoroughly apologize.  I'm not lazy.  It

 16       wasn't insidious, and I'm certainly staying

 17       on top of it and I have.

 18            MR. BENNETT:  All right.  Then I will

 19        go ahead and explain the process moving

 20        forward.

 21            Mr. Cranor is going to draft a summary

 22       of today's conference and he will

 23       also--which will include a recommendation.

 24       The recommendation will be whether or not he

 25       believes that you've violated the
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 01       regulations cited in the revised Report of

 02       Findings, and if he recommends a violation,

 03       he could also recommend a sanction.

 04            Once the summary is complete we will

 05       send a copy to you along with an invitation

 06       to the Board meeting the case will be heard

 07       at.  At the Board meeting, since you

 08       participated in today's IFF, you will have

 09       the opportunity address the Board for up to

 10       five minutes.  You can only talk about

 11       anything that was already discussed today or

 12       already in the record.  You can't talk about

 13       anything outside the record.

 14            MR. AZARI:  Sure.

 15            MR. BENNETT:  If you choose to attend

 16        and if you choose to speak to the Board,

 17        once you've done that, the rest of the

 18        Board--Mr. Cranor will recuse himself since

 19        he is drafting the summary, but they will

 20        then vote on whether or not to accept his

 21        recommendation.

 22            It's important to note it is just that,

 23       a recommendation.  The Board has the

 24       authority to accept it, reject it, or modify

 25       it the way they see fit.  And, you know,
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 01       once they make their vote they will--you

 02       know, if you choose to attend, you will find

 03       out right then.  They will vote right then

 04       and there.

 05            MR. AZARI:  So if I'm flying out of

 06        country, because I travel quite a bit

 07        around this time of year, is that a big

 08        deal?  Do I need to be there in case I'm

 09        not here for any pre-purchased flight or--

 10            MR. BENNETT:  So the Board will--you

 11        know when we send you the summary with the

 12        notice of what Board meeting it's going to,

 13        the Board will hear the case regardless of

 14        whether you show up.  The case will be

 15        going and they will decide the case whether

 16        you choose to attend or not.

 17            MR. AZARI:  Okay.  Cool.

 18            MR. BENNETT:  We will also include on

 19        that notice contact info for Board staff

 20        specifically.  They actually, you know,

 21        arrange participation and stuff like that

 22        during Board meetings.

 23            MR. AZARI:  Sure.

 24            MR. BENNETT:  So if you have questions

 25        about Board meetings and stuff like that,
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 01        we can give you their contact information

 02        and ask how that works.

 03            MR. AZARI:  Okay.  Great.

 04            MR. BENNETT:  Did you have any other

 05        questions?

 06            MR. AZARI:  No, sir.  It was pretty

 07        straightforward.

 08            MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Then we can

 09        conclude the conference.  Thank you very

 10        much.

 11            NOTE:  The conference concluded at 1:35

 12        p.m.
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